UC Berkeley

UC Berkeley Previously Published Works

Title

An analytic hybrid halo + perturbation theory model for small-scale correlators: baryons, halos, and galaxies

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7h05p54c

Journal

Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2021(11)

ISSN

1475-7516

Authors

Sullivan, James M Seljak, Uroš Singh, Sukhdeep

Publication Date 2021-11-01

DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/2021/11/026

Copyright Information

This work is made available under the terms of a Creative Commons Attribution License, available at <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>

Peer reviewed

An Analytic Hybrid Halo + Perturbation Theory Model for Small-scale Correlators: Baryons, Halos, and Galaxies

James M. Sullivan,^{*a,b*,1} Uroš Seljak^{*a,b,c*} Sukhdeep Singh^{*d,b*}

^aDepartment of Astronomy, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA

^bBerkeley Center for Cosmological Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA

^cLawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, One Cyclotron Road, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA ^dMcWilliams Center for Cosmology, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA

E-mail: jmsullivan@berkeley.edu, useljak@berkeley.edu, sukhdeep@cmu.edu

Abstract. We update Halo Zeldovich Perturbation Theory (HZPT, [1]), an analytic model for the two-point statistics of dark matter, to describe halo and galaxy clustering, and galaxy-matter cross-correlation on nonlinear scales. The model correcting Zeldovich has an analytic Fourier transform, and therefore is valid in both configuration space and Fourier space. The model is accurate at the 2%-level or less for P_{mm} (k < 1 h/Mpc), P_{hm} (k < 1 h/Mpc), $P_{hh}~(k < 2~h/{
m Mpc}),~P_{gm}~(k < 1~h/{
m Mpc}),~P_{gg}~(k < 1~h/{
m Mpc}),~\xi_{mm}~(r > 1~h/{
m Mpc})),~\xi_{mm}~(r > 1~h/{
m Mpc}))$ 1 Mpc/h), ξ_{hm} (r > 2 Mpc/h), ξ_{hh} (r > 2 Mpc/h), ξ_{gm} (r > 1 Mpc/h), ξ_{gg} (r > 2 Mpc/h), for LRG-like mock galaxies. We show that the HZPT model for matter correlators can account for the effects of a wide range of baryonic feedback models and provide two extended dark matter models which are of 1% (3%) accuracy for k < 10 (8) h/Mpc. We explicitly model the non-perturbative features of halo exclusion for the halo-halo and galaxy-galaxy correlators, as well as the presence of satellites for galaxy-matter and galaxy-galaxy correlation functions. We perform density estimation using N-body simulations and a wide range of HOD galaxy mocks to obtain correlations of model parameters with the cosmological parameters Ω_m and σ_8 . HZPT can provide a fast, interpretable, and analytic model for combined-probe analyses of redshift surveys using scales well into the non-linear regime.

¹Corresponding author.

Contents

1	1 Introduction	
2	N-body Simulations and Halo Occupation Distribution	4
	2.1 CrowCanyon simulations and CM HOD mocks	4
	2.2 Aemulus simulations and LZ HOD mocks	4
3	Review of Halo-Zeldovich Perturbation Theory	5
	3.1 The halo model	6
	3.2 Two-halo - Zel'dovich	6
	3.3 One-halo - Broadband Beyond Zel'dovich	7
	3.4 Compensation	7
	3.5 The full model	7
4	Matter Correlators & Baryons	8
	4.1 Modeling baryonic physics	8
	4.2 Extended power spectrum model	10
	4.2.1 Extending the one-halo term	11
	4.2.2 Alternate two-halo term	12
5	Halos and Exclusion	13
	5.1 Small-scale halo clustering	13
	5.2 Correlation function results	14
	5.3 Power spectrum results	16
	5.4 Transforming the two-point statistics	18
6	Galaxies and Satellites	20
	6.1 Small-scale galaxy clustering	20
	6.2 Two HOD mocks	21
	6.2.1 Configuration space results	22
	6.2.2 Fourier space results	24
	6.2.3 Comparison of mocks	25
	6.3 Correlations with cosmological parameters	26
7	Conclusions	
\mathbf{A}	Details of Halo-Zeldovich Perturbation Theory	30
	A.1 Full Model $(n_{\max} \leq 2)$	30
	A.2 Profile expansion	31
	A.3 Deriving $R_{n,nh}$ from the halo model with baryonic effects	33
	A.4 Comparison to HMCode2020	33
в	Halo correlator model components	34
	B.1 Model for ξ_{hh} and P_{hh} including halo exclusion	34
	B.2 Halo mass bins	35
	B.3 Compensation R for halos	35

1 Introduction

The goal of large-scale structure (LSS) analysis is to extract cosmological information from the nonlinear matter density field. Nearly all modern cosmological analyses are built upon two-point statistics that probe this field [2, 3]. Increasingly precise measurements of two-point correlators in modern galaxy surveys demand percent-level accuracy of theoretical models of these correlators. This is especially true on smaller scales where the effect of survey sample variance is minimal and non-perturbative effects dominate. However, models of two-point statistics require a tradeoff between the scales they access and the amount of theoretical control they have.

Perturbation theory (PT) provides an analytic model of the density field on large scales [4]. Two-point correlators in perturbative models are limited by the scale at which nonlinear effects dominate the dark matter dynamics which is a much smaller scale than the minimum scale to which current surveys are sensitive [5]. However, PT models remain attractive due to the control over theoretical errors they afford in their domain of validity. Extensions of perturbation theory based on an effective fluid description of the density field (EFT) have pushed deeper into the quasi-linear regime [6–10]. Such extended perturbation theory models have recently been used successfully for analysis of cosmological parameters, though with nuisance parameters that are fitted to numerical simulations (e.g. [11]). However, there is a limit to any perturbative model, even in the EFT framework, as non-perturbative effects and nonlinear gravitational evolution dictate the behavior of the density field on scales less than a few Mpc/h. In fact, it is clear that perturbation theory does not actually converge to the fully nonlinear result on smaller scales, at least in one dimension, at infinite order [12, 13]. This is due to the fundamentally non-perturbative nature of small-scale dark matter dynamics.

An alternative analytic model that includes non-perturbative effects in the form of halo formation is the halo model [14–17]. The halo model assumes that all dark matter is tied up in gravitationally bound, non-overlapping halos, which have a prescribed density profile and an abundance set by the halo mass function. Two-point matter correlators are computed by way of mean halo profiles integrated over the halo mass function and halo bias. The halo model has seen success in the last few decades, and is used in modern analyses, albeit usually with some modifications, to model fully nonlinear scales (e.g. [18]). However, the halo model struggles in the so-called "transition regime" between the one-halo and two-halo terms. The halo model also fails to ensure large-scale conservation laws are satisfied, and as a result cannot be completely correct in its original form [19]. Despite the successes of both PT and the halo model in complementary regimes, it is clear that neither of these analytic models alone are adequate to fully describe the nonlinear density field.

Without sufficiently accurate analytic models of matter clustering, simulations can instead act as a model of nonlinear dynamics. N-body simulations provide Monte Carlo realizations of Newtonian dynamics in the fully-nonlinear regime, producing a nonlinear matter density field for a given cosmological model. As with PT and the halo model, N-body simulations are limited by a fundamental assumption - namely that evolution of the matter distribution is fully described by collisionless cold dark matter obeying Newtonian gravity. However, this assumption does not limit the scales accessible to the model or the types of nonlinear structures it can produce, which are constrained only by numerical resolution. Recent advances in computing have led to the rise of large-volume, high-resolution simulations (e.g. [20–24]), albeit with questions of convergence at the percent-level [25]. With these have come approximate methods of simulation that aim to obtain comparable solutions with much less computation time [26–28]. As redshift surveys push to larger volumes and higher number density, the intractability of running many sufficiently resolved simulations at multi-Gpc volumes (necessary for capturing large modes and estimating covariance) to produce two-point statistics has motivated various fitting functions and interpolations of two-point statistics produced by high resolution simulations (e.g. [18, 29–32]). At the smallest scales probed by observations, baryonic effects on the matter distribution are also a concern [33, 34], and to properly simulate their impact on large-scale structure requires a full understanding of galaxy formation and hydrodynamic simulations that include feedback [35, 36]. There have been some recent efforts to correct for baryons and mitigate this issue by modifying the output of dark-matter-only simulations [37–39].

In practice we do not observe the nonlinear matter density field, but instead its tracers. Modeling the connection between tracers and the underlying density field is a complex task, and there are several prevailing approaches to this problem. The large-scale bias approach extends the philosophy of perturbation theory to parameterize the tracer field as a linear combination of locally-leading gravitational observables [5]. These models have been successful on large scales, but face the same issue of PT for modeling dark matter, namely the presence of a nonlinear scale that characterizes the dark matter dynamics [40]. On top of this fundamental limit, there is an additional limiting scale, the nonlocality scale, which characterizes the formation of the tracer (e.g. halos/galaxies) and is not necessarily coincident with the nonlinear scale. Recently, some pragmatic semi-analytic models have partially circumvented this issue by considering bias with respect to a fitting function for the non-linear matter power [41], using bias templates measured from simulations [42], or by extending the halo model via functions fit to simulations [43]. In the halo occupation model approach, luminous tracers are assigned to a catalog of dark matter halos via a prescription for stochastically populating the halos - this is the Halo Occupation Distribution (HOD) framework [14, 44, 45]. HOD models, usually combined with halos found in N-body simulations, are used for some modern analyses that include small-scale galaxy clustering [18, 46]. There are also more involved models of the galaxy-halo connection that are less frequently used in cosmological analyses [47]. Finally, hydrodynamic simulations that include baryonic/gas physics attempt to model galaxy formation more directly, albeit with stochastic subgrid models mixed in [35]. These simulations are extremely computationally expensive to run, and typically cannot be run at the sufficient number of realizations or volume to be relevant for modern redshift surveys.

Given the limitations of existing models for the nonlinear density field and its tracers, a lofty goal is then to produce an interpretable, analytic model that is accurate across all scales of cosmological interest. Toward this goal we build upon the hybrid PT-halo model approach put forward by [48] (MS14) and [1] (SV15) for modeling dark matter two-point correlators - Halo-Zeldovich Perturbation Theory (HZPT). There have been several other efforts in this hybrid-modeling direction for dark matter only correlators [19, 49–51]. However, both HZPT in its original incarnation and these previous works do not account for baryonic effects on the matter two-point correlators or the more observationally-relevant modeling of general tracer two-point correlators. We address these shortcomings in this paper.

The purpose of this paper is twofold. First, we aim to provide a fast, analytic, and accurate model for two-point correlators of matter (accounting for baryonic effects) and tracers on small scales, which necessitates modeling of halo exclusion and satellite galaxies. In addition, we provide power-law fits for matter correlators, and a joint distribution of cosmology and HZPT parameters for describing LRG-type (mock) galaxies as the foundation for an emulator-like approach to analysis of two-point statistics. We restrict our attention to real space correlators, as the most immediate application of HZPT is to projected statistics in a "3x2pt"-style analysis.

We first describe the N-body simulations and HOD mocks used in this paper in Section 2. We review the HZPT model and outline its basic structures in Section 3. We apply the model to dark matter correlators and discuss the impact of baryons in Section 4. We apply the model to halos in Section 5, and provide a detailed discussion of halo exclusion before moving on to mock galaxies in Section 6 and concluding in Section 7.

2 N-body Simulations and Halo Occupation Distribution

2.1 CrowCanyon simulations and CM HOD mocks

We use particle output and halo catalogs from the CrowCanyon N-body simulations to test the HZPT model on matter and halo statistics. These simulations were run using FastPM [26] with $N_p = 6144^3$ particles, a box size of $L_{\text{box}} = 3200 \text{ Mpc/h}$, a boost factor B = 2 (for a 12288³ PM force grid and Nyquist wavenumber $k_{\rm Nyq} \approx 12 \ h/{\rm Mpc}$, using the Planck15 cosmological parameters [52] (without neutrino effects). CrowCanyon halos were identified using the nbodykit FoF halo finder [53] with linking length b = 0.2. We computed simulation power spectra using nbodykit [54] with a FFT mesh using $N_{\text{mesh}} = 2048 \ (k_{\text{Nyq}} \approx 2 \ h/\text{Mpc})$ using a correction for compensation [55], and a Triangular Shaped Cloud interpolation window. Similarly, we computed correlation functions using FFTs on large scales with $N_{\rm mesh} = 1024$, matched at r = 10 Mpc/h to the result of the corrfunc [56] pair counting algorithm (as included in nbodykit) with 100 logarithmically-spaced bins and a maximum bin of 10 Mpc/h. Power spectra are sample variance cancelled using unitary amplitude ("paired-fixed") power spectra [57] at the same random seed as the N-body simulation initial conditions. To compute the linear theory power spectrum we use CLASS [58]. To quickly compute the Zeldovich power spectrum we modify a version of the FFTLog-based code employed in [59] and [60]. Fits are performed using the scipy implementation of the "Trust Region Reflective" optimization algorithm.

We used the nbodykit [54, 61] implementation of the simple 5-parameter Zheng '07 HOD model [62] to populate CrowCanyon halos with galaxies. This implementation modulates the satellite occupation by that of the centrals, assumes no halo-central mis-centering, and places satellite galaxies in halos according to an NFW profile. We use 100 sets of HOD parameters sampled from a symmetric latin hypercube with a number density fixed to near the BOSS CMASS [63] value ($\bar{n}_g = 4.2 \times 10^{-4} h^3 \text{ Mpc}^{-3}$) at z = 0.55 (Fig. 1). The parameter log M_{\min} is not drawn from the hypercube, and is instead fixed by integrating over the CrowCanyon halo mass function to reproduce the appropriate \bar{n}_g . The ranges of parameters considered are: $\alpha \in [0.5, 1.0]$, log $M_1 \in [13.5, 14.5]$, log $M_0 \in [11, 13.5]$, $\sigma_{\log M} \in [0.01, 0.8]$. This results in a large range of satellite fractions ($f_{\text{sat}} \approx 0.01-0.6$), which is discussed further in Section 6. We refer to this HOD mock galaxy sample as the "CM" sample since it approximates the BOSS CMASS galaxy number density, redshift, and roughly follows the HOD parameterization of the CMASS analysis of [46].

2.2 Aemulus simulations and LZ HOD mocks

We similarly generate LOWZ-like HOD mock catalogs from the Aemulus simulations [24]. We use 10 different cosmologies (Boxes 0-9) with 20 HODs per cosmology. We use a number



Figure 1. Halo occupation space. CM refers to the wider HOD sample space corresponding to the larger-volume CrowCanyon simulations, while LZ refers to the LOWZ-like HOD sample space corresponding to the Aemulus simulations. R14 and W19 refer to the halo occupations using the (fiducial) mean constrained HOD parameters (using the model of [62]) for the BOSS CMASS and LOWZ data from [46] and [18], respectively.

density close to the LOWZ value ($\bar{n}_g = 3 \times 10^{-4} h^3 \text{ Mpc}^{-3}$), and use a snapshot at z = 0.25. Halos are populated according to the 200b mass definition of the NFW radius and concentration. We computed simulation power spectra using nbodykit [54] with a FFT mesh using $N_{\text{mesh}} = 1024$ using a correction for compensation [55], a Triangular Shaped Cloud window, and interlaced anti-aliasing [64]. We extend the maximum corrfunc pair count bin to 20 Mpc/h and use an FFTCorr grid of 512^2 for correlation function measurements. We use a similar range of parameters as [18]: $\alpha \in [0.5, 1.5], \frac{M_1}{M_{\min}} \in [2.5, 20.0], \frac{M_0}{M_1} \in [0.0, 0.4], \sigma_{\log M} \in [0.01, 0.8]$. For each set of HOD parameters, the minimum halo mass parameter log M_{\min} is fixed to match the LOWZ number density once all of the other parameters have been chosen. This value is determined by an integral over the halo mass function - to account for variation of the mass function with cosmology, we use the Aemulus emulator for the halo mass function trained on the simulations [65]. We refer to this HOD mock galaxy sample as the "LZ" sample since it approximates the BOSS LOWZ galaxy number density, redshift, and HOD parameterization of the LOWZ analysis of [18]. Figure 1 shows the halo occupations corresponding to these parameters (as well as the same for the CM sample).

3 Review of Halo-Zeldovich Perturbation Theory

In this section, we review the HZPT model for two-point statistics as developed in MS14, SV15, and [66] (H17), briefly recounting the relevant aspects of the halo model. We discuss each of the terms, their PT/halo model origin, and the scales at which they are relevant. Previous iterations of the HZPT model were applied only to matter and halo-matter correlators, and discussion in this section is restricted to these models, though we expand upon them more generally for tracers in Sections 5 and 6.

3.1 The halo model

The halo model [14–17] makes the assumption that all matter resides in virialized halos of mass $M_{\rm vir} = \frac{4}{3}\pi R_{\rm vir}^3 \Delta_{\rm vir} \bar{\rho}_m$, and splits the two-point statistics of the matter field into correlations between halos (two-halo term) and correlations within a single halo (one-halo term):

$$P_{mm}(k) = P_{1h}(k) + P_{2h}(k), \ \xi_{mm}(r) = \xi_{1h}(r) + \xi_{2h}(r).$$
(3.1)

The ingredients of the halo model are: the halo mass function dn(M) with n(M) the number density of halos at fixed mass M, along with halo bias b(M), and the spherically averaged halo profile $\rho_M(r)$ (e.g. NFW [67]). The usual halo-model one-halo and two-halo expressions are then:

$$P_{1h}(k) = \int dn(M) \frac{M}{\bar{\rho}} |u_M(k)|^2, \qquad (3.2)$$

$$P_{2h}(k) = \left(\int dn(M)b(M)u_M(k)\right)^2 P_L(k),$$
(3.3)

with linear power $P_L(k)$, and where the configuration space quantities are given by the Fourier transform of eqns. 3.2 and 3.3. Here $u_M(k)$ is the Fourier transform of the density profile normalized by the mass enclosed in the halo:

$$u_M(k) = \frac{4\pi}{M} \int_0^{R_{\rm vir}} dr \ r^2 \rho_M(r) j_0(kr), \qquad (3.4)$$

with j_0 denoting the 0th-order spherical Bessel function. The profile is usually parameterized in terms of a characteristic scale radius r_s , (which can be written in terms of the halo concentration $c_{\text{def}}(M) = \frac{R_{\text{def}}}{r_s}$):

$$\rho_M(r) = \frac{\rho_0}{\left(1 + \frac{r}{r_s}\right)^2 \left(\frac{r}{r_s}\right)}.$$
(3.5)

We only explicitly compute halo model quantities in Appendix A.3, and in that case use the NFW concentration-mass relation of Ref. [68] and the 200c mass definition.

3.2 Two-halo - Zel'dovich

The HZPT model replaces the traditional halo model two-halo term (eqn. 3.3) with the Zel'dovich Approximation (ZA), or the leading-order Lagrangian perturbation theory (LPT) power spectrum¹ [69–72]. The ZA provides a beyond-linear-theory description of large scales, including large-scale nonlinear bulk flows. A benefit of the ZA is that the IR resummation that would be necessary in Eulerian perturbation theory (SPT) or in an EFT extension thereof is not required at several-percent accuracy, [7, 40, 50], as the Baryonic Acoustic Oscillation (BAO) wiggles are already captured quite well by the ZA [10]. More importantly for the purpose of this paper, ZA provides a useful ansatz for halo model extension, since a compensated halo profile added to ZA provides a description which is consistent with perturbation theory in the regime of its validity on large scales (Section II of SV15). To address the known deficit in power in the ZA power spectrum on large scales, SV15 matched the ZA power spectrum to that of SPT to write the amplitude of the one-halo term that also describes small scales, which we now address.

¹Using an alternative perturbative substitute for the two-halo term can also prove fruitful, and we provide an example in Section 4.2.2, but by default in this paper we stick with the ZA.

3.3 One-halo - Broadband Beyond Zel'dovich

The central feature of the small-scale HZPT model is the Broadband Beyond Zel'dovich (BB) term. In its initial formulation (MS14), this term replaces the one-halo term (eqn 3.2) to express a contribution to the power that is provided by an expansion of the Fourier transform of the halo profile in even powers of comoving wavenumber k. The coefficients of this expansion can in principle be obtained by integrating r^{2n} -moments of a prescribed halo profile up to a chosen "halo radius" at which the profile is truncated, though this was not done in MS14 or SV15 and these coefficients were simply fitted to simulations (expressions given in Appendix A). To prevent large-k divergences, SV15 took this expansion in even powers of k and replaced it with a Padé-type term:

$$P_{BB}(k) = A_0 F(k) \frac{\sum_{m=0}^{m=n_{\max}-1} (kR_m)^{2m}}{\sum_{n=0}^{n=n_{\max}} (kR_{nh})^{2n}}$$
(3.6)

The Padé approximation to the the k^2 expansion improves the range of validity of the model greatly by forcing the expansion to smoothly transition to zero as $k \to \infty$. Not only does this resummation remove high-k divergence due to polynomial terms, but it also increases the maximum wavenumber k up to which the BB term is a decent approximation to the Fourier transform of an idealized halo profile, which also transitions to zero for large k. We note that in the EFT sense, the BB term is not "stochastic", since we do not enforce that it is uncorrelated with the ZA term. The two-point correlation function (2PCF) is given by the Fourier transform of this expansion, which is analytic², and an expression for which (for $n_{\rm max} = 0, 1, 2$) can be found in Appendix A.

3.4 Compensation

A well-known limitation of the original halo model is that mass and momentum are not conserved on large scales [19]. In the $k \to 0$ limit, conservation of these quantities requires $\lim_{k\to 0} P_{mm} \propto k^4$ [73]. The violation of this requirement for the halo model arises from the k^0 contribution of the one-halo term, which is due to the Poisson contribution from a finite number of halos [14]. The HZPT model address this by multiplying the BB Padé expansion term by a compensation kernel F(k), which suppresses the low- $k k^0$ contribution (though at leading order this term goes like k^2). It is possible to explore more complicated forms of the compensation kernel (MS14), or to compensate the functional form of the halo profile ites [74], but here we keep with the previous iterations of HZPT and use the simple Lorentzian kernel with a single parameter R:

$$F(k) = \left(1 - \frac{1}{1 + k^2 R^2}\right).$$
(3.7)

SV15 matched to SPT to find a value of the compensation parameter R that was in good agreement with simulation measurements ($R \approx 26$ at z = 0). We discuss compensation for tracer-matter cross-correlations in Appendix B.3.

3.5 The full model

The contributions to the model from the ZA and different BB terms are shown in Figure 2. The parameters are: A_0 , which is related to the one-halo amplitude $\bar{\rho}_m^{-2} \int dn(M) M^2$ and

 $^{^{2}}$ To clarify, we take "analytic" in the sense of closed-form (as in [14]), rather than in the technical sense of functions.

does not depend on the profile, the R_{nh} , which are associated to the r^{2n} -moments of the halo profile, and the compensation scale R. A detailed discussion of these terms is provided in Appendix A. There we also provide a full review of the original machinery of MS14 for the expansion in even powers of k. In the main text we will take a pragmatic approach, always fitting for the model parameters.



Figure 2. *Left:* Illustration of separate components of our model in Fourier space, as well as a comparison to linear theory. *Right:* The same components of the model in configuration space.

4 Matter Correlators & Baryons

We present the HZPT model for real-space two-point correlators of matter, including the effects of baryonic physics, which are most relevant for weak lensing observations. We review a calculation of MS14 of the profile expansion coefficients in the presence of a single model of AGN feedback, before performing an expanded calculation in the context of HZPT using several baryonic physics models. We also present a higher- $n_{\rm max}$ model that fits down to $k \approx 8 \ h/{\rm Mpc}$ at the 3% level, as well as a model with an augmented two-halo term that fits close down to $k \approx 10 \ h/{\rm Mpc}$ at the 1% level.

Before turning to baryons we briefly remark on the use of HZPT as a model of dark matter two-point correlators. Slightly generalizing the results of SV15, we show the fits over a range of redshifts ($0 \le z \le 2.5$) of the HZPT model to the power spectrum and correlation function in the CrowCanyon simulations in Figure 3. The fits for $P_{mm}(k)(\xi_{mm}(r))$ are accurate to $\approx 2\%$ for k > 1h/Mpc (r < 1Mpc/h) for all but the highest redshift considered.

4.1 Modeling baryonic physics

To avoid biasing inferred cosmological parameters obtained through the matter two-point correlators, we must account for the effect of baryons on the matter distribution. Baryons modify the dark-matter-only (DMO) halo profile in several ways, which has been explored in detail (e.g. [25, 35, 36, 39, 75]). In the presence of baryons, gas and stars must be accounted for in the halo profile in addition to dark matter. AGN and supernova feedback effects also



Figure 3. Left: Fits to the CrowCanyon matter power spectrum using the base HZPT model for a range of redshifts (z = 0 - 2.5). Right: The same for the matter correlation function. Colored bands are at 1% and 2%.

move gas away from the halo center, which redistributes dark matter within the halo profile. From the perspective of the HZPT model, the effect of baryons should only be to modify the BB terms (see Appendix A.3 for an illustrative calculation using halo profiles). Baryons should not affect the large scales relevant for the halo compensation R or the one-halo amplitude A_0 , assuming conservation of mass between the DMO and DM+baryon scenarios (up to two-fluid corrections in the ZA [76–79]). This is the same rationale used to motivate scale cuts (e.g. [80]). MS14 fitted changes in the power spectrum due to a single AGN model of feedback in the coefficients for the first three terms of the k^2 profile expansion up to $k = 0.8 \ h/Mpc$. They found that the change in A_0 (which is the same as our A_0 up to small changes due to the compensation term) is almost an order of magnitude lower than changes in the higher-order parameters, which change at the ~ 5% level, and if they fix A_0 the change in the other terms is larger but still effectively captured by the profile expansion.

We achieve a similar but improved result compared to MS14 using a more involved comparison. We use a larger k-range, fitting out to k = 1 h/Mpc using the matter power spectrum from simulations. We also employ a more diverse range of baryonic physics models by multiplying the dark-matter only CrowCanyon matter power at z = 0 by the ratio $P_{\text{barvon}}/P_{\text{DMO}}$ for 13 different models from [81]. Figure 4 shows fits to dark-matter-only power spectra and power spectra including the effects of baryons for several models with A_0 and R fixed to their DMO values. Clearly the $R_{n,nh}$ parameters are flexible enough to accurately account for feedback, and marginalizing over them should remove biases in cosmological parameter constraints. We note that while all models are fit to the 1% level down to $k = 1 \ h/Mpc$, the simulations with the largest deviations in the R_{nh} parameters from the DMO case are Illustris and Horizon-AGN. This is the case for Illustris since it has been shown to have an unrealistically strong feedback model (compared to other hydrodynamic simulations) in terms of its effects on the power spectrum for $k \leq 1$ due to low baryon fraction (compared with the observed value in galaxy groups) in high mass halos [36]. For Horizon-AGN, there is a large-scale 1% excess of the $P_{\rm baryon}/P_{\rm DMO}$ ratio above unity that causes a relatively large change in the HZPT R_{nh} parameters (the source of this deviation is discussed in Appendix A of [75], and may not be physical).



Figure 4. Top: Residuals for the power spectrum at z = 0 for all baryonic models considered. Shaded area corresponds to a 1% deviation. Bottom: HZPT parameter values fit for the different feedback models. DMO fits are denoted by the dotted lines and shaded areas denote rms deviations from the DMO case.

4.2 Extended power spectrum model

We briefly explore two extended models, which probe smaller scales where the effects of baryons are stronger, as modern cosmic shear measurements probe angular scales that receive contributions from these length scales. The first extension focuses on the one-halo term, as well as cosmology dependence of those parameters, and the second focuses on the two-halo term. We compute the power spectrum using nbodykit as described in Section 2 but with a finer mesh in the call to FFTPower with $N_{\text{mesh}} = 10240$, and additional interlaced anti-aliasing [64]. This grid corresponds to a $k_{\text{Nyq}} \approx 10 \ h/\text{Mpc}$ and using the above settings should be trustworthy out to this scale [54].

4.2.1 Extending the one-halo term

We extend the model for $P_{mm}(k)$ to include one higher-order BB term $(n_{\text{max}} = 3)$ to get to 3%-level accuracy out to $k \approx 8 \ h/\text{Mpc}$. We see an upturn in Figure 5 beginning at $k = 8 \ h/\text{Mpc}$ which the model fails to fit. We see that the R_{nh} parameters can account for the strongest baryonic feedback (Illustris), which is perhaps not surprising given the fact that we have added two parameters - which are interpretable as the k^6 expansion coefficient reprocessed through the Padé expression.



Figure 5. Fits to the matter power spectrum for dark-matter only in our simulations as well as with baryonic feedback effects included through the power spectrum ratio $P_{\text{bar}}/P_{\text{DMO}}$ for Illustris, the most extreme feedback model we consider, at z = 0 using the high-k extended model with $n_{\text{max}} = 3$. We also show the alternate two-halo HZPT model described in Section 4.2.2 (red line). Colored regions are shown at 1,2, and 3%.

Following SV15, we here provide fitted power-law dependence of all $n_{\text{max}} = 3$ parameters for the $P_{mm}(k)$ (DMO) model described in the previous section at z = 0 (Eqn. 4.1). To quickly obtain matter power spectra for cosmologies with different values of the matter density parameter Ω_m and the matter density variance in spheres of 8 Mpc/h σ_8 , we use CosmicEmu [30], using 100 randomly generated power spectra with values of $\Omega_{cb} = \Omega_m^{\text{EMU}} \in [.26, .34]$ and $\sigma_8 \in [.7, .9]$ and 20 test spectra in the same range (Fig. 6). For the other emulator parameters we fix h = 0.6774, $\Omega_b = 0.0486$, $\Omega_{\nu} = 0.0014$, $n_s = 0.9667$ $w_0 = -1$, and $w_a = 0$

$$A_0 = 777 \left(\frac{\sigma_8}{0.8}\right)^{4.33} \left(\frac{\Omega_{cb}}{0.3}\right)^{-1.83}$$
(4.1)

$$R = 25.3 \left(\frac{\Omega_{cb}}{0.3}\right)^{-0.58} \qquad R_{1h} = 8.56 \left(\frac{\sigma_8}{0.8}\right)^{2.34} \left(\frac{\Omega_{cb}}{0.3}\right)^{-2.19} \\ R_1 = 7.34 \left(\frac{\sigma_8}{0.8}\right)^{2.37} \left(\frac{\Omega_{cb}}{0.3}\right)^{-1.39} \qquad R_{2h} = 2.93 \left(\frac{\sigma_8}{0.8}\right)^{1.56} \left(\frac{\Omega_{cb}}{0.3}\right)^{-1.24} \\ R_2 = 1.99 \left(\frac{\sigma_8}{0.8}\right)^{1.16} \left(\frac{\Omega_{cb}}{0.3}\right)^{-0.96} \qquad R_{3h} = 1.51 \left(\frac{\sigma_8}{0.8}\right)^{1.12} \left(\frac{\Omega_{cb}}{0.3}\right)^{-0.96}$$

The 3-parameter power law is accurate with rms residuals of 1% or less for the test set on all scales. In the context of this computation, this level of accuracy is competitive with state-of-the-art non-linear matter power spectrum models [82] - we provide a comparison to the right panel of Fig. 6 in Appendix A.4. The few large-k residuals that go slightly past 2% correspond to the most extreme values of $\Omega_m^{\rm EMU}$ at the edge of our range. We find positive exponents for all parameters with respect to σ_8 and generally negative ones for the parameters with respect to $\Omega_m^{\rm EMU}$. We note that fitted value for the exponent on the compensation scale R is close to zero (< 10⁻¹⁵), so the value of R is essentially independent of the value of σ_8 , and so we treat R only as a function of $\Omega_m^{\rm EMU}$.



Figure 6. Left: Residuals of power law fits in the training set of 100 values of σ_8 and $\Omega_m^{\text{EMU}} = \Omega_{cb}$. Right: Residuals of power law fits in the test set of 20 values of σ_8 and Ω_m^{EMU} . Colored bands show 1 and 2 %. See Fig. 17 for a comparison to HMCode2020.

4.2.2 Alternate two-halo term

As mentioned in Section 3.2, one might consider alternatives to ZA for the two-halo term in the HZPT model, and we briefly explore such an extension here³. One such alternative is based on the power due to the linear correlation function shifted by the ZA displacement:

$$P_{\rm alt}(\mathbf{k}) = 4\pi \int dq q^2 \xi_L(q) \mathrm{e}^{-k_i k_j A_{ij}(q)}$$
(4.2)

where ξ_L is the linear correlation function and $A_{ij}(q)$ is the LPT displacement difference cumulant [8, 10, 70, 83, 84]. A benefit of taking P_{alt} as the starting point for a new two-halo term is that it remains easy to compute while preserving many of the advantages of ZA, and also provides slightly more power than ZA on quasi-linear scales. This modified version of ZA can be further augmented in a manner similar to the models of [10, 85] by adding a transfer function style polynomial term multiplying P_{alt} , such that

$$P_{\text{alt,HZPT}}(k) = \left(1 + \alpha k^2 + \beta k^4\right) P_{\text{alt}}(k) + P_{BB}(k)$$

$$(4.3)$$

where α, β are free parameters. This model keeps with the HZPT spirit of an analytic Fourier transform so long as an exponential cutoff is applied in the Fourier transform of the modified

³We are grateful to Zvonimir Vlah for suggesting the main idea of this section.

ZA piece⁴. For $n_{\text{max}} = 2$, this model has the same number of parameters as the $n_{\text{max}} = 3$ model described in Section 4.2. The success of this model in fitting the CrowCanyon matter power spectrum is demonstrated by the red line in Fig. 5. Clearly for the same number of parameters, $P_{\text{alt,HZPT}}$ outperforms the $n_{\text{max}} = 3$ model, achieving 1% residuals up to $k = 10 \ h/\text{Mpc}$. We also find that fixing $\beta = 0$ results in similar performance to the $n_{\text{max}} = 3$ model, with one fewer parameter. This illustrates the power of the form of the HZPT model and that it is possible to further improve beyond the models we present in this paper within the HZPT framework by more carefully balancing the work sharing between the HZPT two-halo and one-halo terms.

We anticipate that using the form of eqn. 4.3 may also improve the accuracy of tracer HZPT models, and also results in exact expression for tracers using linear bias. We find that since for tracers we mostly limit our attention to wavenumbers below 1 - 2 h/Mpc, using ZA alone suffices for our purposes. It would be quite interesting to further explore HZPT models of tracers based on $P_{\rm alt}$ or other similar two-halo terms.

5 Halos and Exclusion

In this section we present the HZPT model for halo-halo and halo-matter two-point statistics in configuration and Fourier space. While these quantities are not directly observable, understanding them is key to accurately modeling non-perturbative effects in the transition regime - namely, the discreteness of the halo field, and halo exclusion.

5.1 Small-scale halo clustering

The HZPT model was successfully applied to halo-matter cross-correlation two-point statistics, but was not applied to halo clustering (auto-correlation) statistics. H17 showed that fits for the power spectrum and correlation function to simulations were accurate to 2%to $k = 1 \ h/\text{Mpc}$ (r ~ 4 Mpc/h) between z = 0 - 1 for several halo mass bins between $10^{13} - 10^{14} M_{\odot}$. The model H17 used was the base HZPT model for dark matter with $n_{\rm max} = 2$ and with an additional linear bias parameter b_1 . The HZPT parameters were fixed as fitted power laws of the linear halo bias b_1 and σ_8 . Allowing all parameters (including b_1) to be free, we find that we can produce fits for these halo-matter correlators that are slightly more accurate on large scales corresponding to those of H17 (our bins 6-8) and also for a wider range of halo-mass bins (see Table 2) as shown in the right panels of Figs. 7 and 8. With the R_{nh} free we are able to fit down to smaller scales that H17 struggled with in modeling the correlation function. H17 attributed this failure of the configuration-space model to one-halo effects since the dependence on profiles cannot be fully described with a simple power law in b_1 , and suggested a more complete treatment of nonlinear/nonlocal bias. We examine where the model fails and succeeds in more detail in the next section, but first turn to the non-perturbative features present in halo auto-correlations.

Non-perturbative modeling is necessary to accurately capture small-scale halo clustering. Ref [86] (B13) conducted a detailed study of halo exclusion and halo auto-correlation stochasticity using N-body simulations. Manufacturing a discrete halo field from the continuous matter field introduces Poisson noise from the finite number of resulting objects in a given volume. This contributes at zero-lag in configuration space and on all scales in Fourier space as the well-known "Poisson shot noise" or fiducial stochasticity. In the $k \to 0$ limit, however,

⁴We find that fits to ξ^{mm} using $\xi_{alt} + \xi_{BB}$ with $n_{max} = 2$ are also accurate at the percent level.

because the tracer field is discrete, there is a constant contribution to the power spectrum that involves an integral over the correlation function. This means that the constant noise on all scales in Fourier space may be sub- or super-Poisson. The sub/super-Poisson noise has been investigated in detail [86–89].

In addition to the scale-independent contribution from discretizing the field, the phenomenon of halo exclusion introduces a scale-dependent contribution to the two-point statistics. Halo exclusion follows directly from the foundational assumption of the halo model that all matter is contained in non-overlapping collapsed dark matter halos. If halos are idealized as spherical, the phenomenon of exclusion appears quite straightforward. Since halos may not overlap, it is not possible for the (spherical) halo field to be correlated on scales below the sum of halo radii. This is reflected in a discontinuous drop to a value of -1 in the halo correlation function at the exclusion scale. For this simplified case of spherical halos at fixed mass, we can write the following expressions of B13 for the discrete (auto) correlation function for halos:

$$\xi_{hh}^{(d)}(r) - \frac{1}{\bar{n}}\delta^{(D)}(\mathbf{r}) = \begin{cases} -1 & r < R_{\text{exc}} \\ \xi_{hh}^{(c)}(r) & r \ge R_{\text{exc}}, \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

or, writing the two-point function, we have $\xi_{hh}^{(d)}(r) - \frac{1}{\bar{n}}\delta^{(D)}(\mathbf{r}) = (\xi_{hh}^{(c)}(r) + 1)\Theta_H(r-R) - 1$, where $R_{\text{exc}} = R_{\text{exc}}(M)$ is the exclusion scale, and in the notation of B13, (d) signifies "discrete" as to be distinguished from (c) "continuous"⁵.

For the power spectrum the corresponding expression is:

$$P_{hh}^{(d)}(k) = \frac{1}{\bar{n}} + P_{hh}^{(c)}(k) - V_{\text{excl}}\left(W_R(k) + \left[W_R * P_{hh}^{(c)}\right](k)\right),$$
(5.2)

where $W_R(k)$ is the spherical top-hat window in Fourier space and * is the convolution operator. We will consider these easily-interpretable toy expressions as conceptual references in a somewhat more realistic models of exclusion. In these models we introduce the exclusion scale R_{exc} as a free parameter.

In reality halos are not spherical, and even for a fixed-mass sampling of the halo field the scale at which exclusion sets in (the effective "exclusion radius") must necessarily reflect the fact that triaxiality leads to a distribution of "true" exclusion scales. However, if one interprets halos in the context of Lagrangian density peaks, then based on the 1-D findings of [90] (where no triaxiality can be present) peak exclusion is dominated by dependence on peak height, bin width, and peak curvature. These results appear to hold in 3-D as well [91], so the effect of triaxiality on exclusion is likely subdominant. Similarly, [92] found that triaxiality, substructure, and concentration scatter were negligible in modeling exclusion in halo two-point correlation functions. We also find it unnecessary to model these effects for percent-level accuracy. The criterion used to define the halo also has an impact on exclusion, which we return to in Section 6 and Appendix C.

5.2 Correlation function results

In Fig. 7, we show the correlation functions from simulations (black points for halo-matter, gray points for halo-halo) as well as various HZPT models for different mass bins (see Appendix B, Table 2) at z=0.55. The linearly-biased ZA (black curves) agrees well with the

⁵Here and in the remainder of this work, we take $\xi^{(c)}$ to contain any nonlinear or non-perturbative clustering outside the exclusion scale.

simulations on the largest scales considered here, but significantly underestimates the correlation function at the several percent starting at r = 40 - 60 Mpc/h.

The second row of Figure 7 illustrates this deviation from linearly biased Zeldovich, which is fit by the BB terms. There are at least three scales in the enhancement over Zeldovich in both the halo-matter and halo-halo correction functions that the BB terms must fit to account for all halo masses considered here. These scales are 1. a large-scale enhancement (LSE) at $\sim 10 \text{ Mpc}/h$ (corresponding to the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ parameter) 2. a small-scale enhancement (SSE) outside the halo exclusion scale (corresponding to the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ parameter) and 3. the halo exclusion scale. These scales are clearly visible in the second row of panels in both halo-matter and halo-halo (though are more easily seen in halo-halo). We will first describe how these scales vary with halo mass (as seen in row 2 of Fig. 7) and then will describe how the HZPT models explicitly account for these scales.

The enhancement in the correlation function over ZA becomes more complicated for lower mass halos. For the largest halos $(M > 10^{13.5} M_{\odot}/h$, right two columns), there is only one scale or "bump" visible in the enhancement - the LSE and SSE coincide at several Mpc/h. Just below this unified scale is the exclusion scale, which presents itself as a vertiginous climb to profile-dominated scales in the halo-matter CF, and as a precipitous drop to zero correlation in the halo-halo CF. For smaller halos, the single scale splits into the LSE and SSE, which are clearly visible at ~ 5 - 10 Mpc/h and ~ 1 - 2 Mpc/h, respectively, for halos with $M < 10^{13} M_{\odot}/h$. Physically, the SSE may be connected to the non-perturbative enhancement outside the exclusion scale observed in peak clustering observed by Ref. [91], while the LSE may be more related to nonlinear bias (e.g. [43, 93]). It would be interesting to consider an expanded hybrid modeling approach in which the LSE is modeled with a more complex nonlinear biasing model than linearly-biased ZA as the two-halo term.

We reproduce the result of H17 - halo-matter CFs are well-fit by the $n_{\rm max} = 2$ model above scales up to a few times the exclusion scale for all halo masses (green curve). This is because the $n_{\rm max} = 2$ model captures two scales - the LSE and SSE - quite well, and in the larger halo mass case the values of the R_{nh} parameters increase and become much closer to each other, reflecting the unification of the LSE and SSE. We attempt to slightly improve upon the $n_{\rm max} = 2$ model by adding a term to account for the halo profile dominance near the exclusion scale by adding a second BB term with $n_{\rm max} = 1$ (purple dashed curve) without compensation ⁶. This model does not show dramatic improvement over the $n_{\rm max} = 2$ model, but does fit the outer portion of the profile dominated region quite well. There are small deviations in the halo-matter correlation function just outside the exclusion scale for both models - we speculate that these are the result of a too-simple treatment of halo compensation.

The halo-halo correlation function is well modeled for large masses by accounting only for the equal LSE-SSE scale and the exclusion scale through a modified $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ model. To model the step in the halo (auto)correlators we model the exclusion step in a similar manner to B13 using the function $F_{\text{exc}}(r)$

$$1 + \xi_{hh}^{(d)}(r) = F_{\text{exc}}(r) \left[1 + \xi_{hh}^{(c)}(r) \right], \qquad (5.3)$$

where $\xi_{hh}^{(c)} = b_1 \xi_{hzpt}$. The function $F_{exc}(r)$ is an approximation to a more complete physical model for exclusion [90, 91] (we further discuss choices for this model in Appendix B.1), and also return to it in the context of the power spectrum in Section 5.4. This model works quite

 $^{^{6}}$ We set the compensation parameter of this additional term to be very large, 10^{9} , which is effectively the same as ignoring it.

well for the largest two halo mass bins (blue curve), but begins to fail dramatically when the LSE and SSE diverge at lower halo mass. To address this, we take the same strategy as for the halo-matter CF and upgrade the BB term to $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ (red dashed curve). This results in excellent fits on scales for all halo masses in the halo-halo CF.



Figure 7. Fits to the halo-halo and halo-matter correlation functions in several logarithmic mass bins. The top panels show the halo-halo and halo-matter correlation functions (multiplied by r^2 and divided by the b_1^2 and b_1 , respectively), the center panels isolate the correction to ZA by subtracting it out, and the bottom panels show residuals with a shaded band at 2%. The columns correspond to increasing halo mass from left to right. Green (purple dashed) lines show the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ ($n_{\text{max}} = 2+1$) HZPT halo-matter correlation function, while blue (red dashed) lines show the HZPT $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ ($n_{\text{max}} = 2$) halo-halo correlation function. Black points show the halo-halo simulation correlation function, and grey points the halo-matter simulation correlation function. Errors are Fourier transformed diagonal Gaussian+Poisson, which are meant as a visual guide only as errors are correlated. The number of residual points with errorbars in the bottom panel has been reduced for visibility. Vertical dotted lines mark the minimum scale used to fit each mass bin, which is roughly the lower limit of the transition regime for each mass bin ($\sim R_{\text{Lag}}/2$).

5.3 Power spectrum results

In Fourier space, the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ model is sufficient to capture the halo-matter cross power spectrum for all halo mass bins at 2% accuracy to k = 1 h/Mpc, and at 1% for almost all mass bins on the same scales (Fig. 8). For the halo-halo power spectrum, the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ HZPT



Figure 8. *Left:* Halo-halo power spectra residuals from and the best fit HZPT models at different halo masses. Thin lines are residuals for the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ model with a free shot noise parameter, while thick lines are due to the model of exclusion with $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ similar to the best model in Fig. 7. *Right:* Fits for halo-matter power spectra using the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ model. Colored bands are shown at 1 % and 2 %.

model in Fourier space with an added effective (not necessarily Poisson) shot noise term $\frac{1}{\bar{n}}$ appears to be accurate (thin lines in bottom panel of Fig. 8). In this scenario, R_{1h} should be thought of as a more general k^2 term rather than as a moment of the halo profile as is the case for matter. We discuss the small effect of removing R from the auto-correlation model in Appendix B.3.

The $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ model does not explicitly account for the Fourier space effects of exclusion, but fits quite well down to $k = 0.9 - 1 \ h/\text{Mpc}$ at the 2%. For all halo masses, the scaledependent correction due to exclusion is sub-dominant to the constant shot noise, (as seen in the left panel of Fig. 8), and for lower halo masses the model fails to be accurate at 1-2% at slightly lower k. This seems consistent with the results of [42], who are able to fit $P_{hh}(k)$ to lower maximum k using a Lagrangian bias expansion, including a k^2 term. However, exclusion must be properly modeled for percent-level accuracy in both configuration and Fourier space, and we return to this point in the following section, where we provide context for interpretation of the quoted accuracies in configuration and Fourier space with regard to exclusion.

As in the configuration space picture, modeling exclusion (using the Exp model presented in B.1) as well as the LSE and SSE through the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ BB term extends the range of scales accessible to the power spectrum model. Proper exclusion modeling suppresses the observed deviations in the (thick) residuals to 1% below k = 2 h/Mpc and eliminates the need for a free constant shot noise parameter. In the fits shown in the thick residuals in the bottom panel of Fig. 8, the shot noise is fixed to Poisson, and the correction comes entirely from the exclusion model. Using the exclusion model with an $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ BB term suffices at the same level of accuracy for the highest two mass bins, but (as discussed in 5.2) for the lower mass bins the results are worse since the SSE and LSE are distinct and must be modeled separately by something more flexible than the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ BB term. While we only go to k = 2 h/Mpchere, the Fourier space exclusion model is accurate to even smaller scales (see Section 5.4).

5.4 Transforming the two-point statistics

Exclusion and non-perturbative clustering present themselves differently in configuration and Fourier space. To better understand how to interpret the accuracy of the HZPT model at the different scale cuts in k and r, we provide a narrow comparison of models that include and exclude the non-perturbative effects of exclusion in configuration and Fourier space for a single halo mass bin (bin 7 - though the result for other bins is similar⁷) in Fig. 9.

In the left panel of Fig. 9, we show two realistic models for the exclusion step in configuration space - the ErfLog model (solid orange) is the model of B13 (with free σ_{exc} , R_{exc} , two free parameters total), and the qualitatively similar Exp model (one free parameter R_{exc} , green dash-dotted) are both described in Appendix B.1. The Exp model fits the step quite well, though the shape is not quite right at the smallest scales of the step, and the ErfLog model clearly captures the exclusion step even better than the Exp model. The ErfLog model is relatively insensitive to σ_{exc} - fixing $\sigma_{\text{exc}} = 0.1$ (similar to B13) only mildly degrades the accuracy of $\xi_{hh}(r)$ in the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ model (which is sufficient here for bin 7) with respect to the shape at the small-scale end (similar to the slight inaccuracy of the Exp model). A benefit of the Exp form of the exclusion step is that it permits an analytic Fourier transform of $F_{\text{exp}}(r)$ (see Appendix B.1), which explicitly displays the non-trivial k-dependence of the exclusion (it is not as simple as k^2) and keeps with the spirit of the HZPT model. Clearly both of these models are capturing the correct features of non-perturbative halo clustering on the smallest scales.

For comparison, we also show the TH model (blue dashed), which is given by the simple Heaviside truncation of the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ HZPT model fit down to r = 2.5 Mpc/h, as well as the same model fitted using a larger minimum scale r = 10 Mpc/h (solid purple), which we refer to as the "ls" (large-scale) model. Similar to the quadratic biasing model of B13, the ls model describes the LSE but fails to capture both the full extent of the SSE outside the exclusion scale, and totally misses the exclusion step. The un-truncated TH model ($\xi^{(c)}$) correctly describes the SSE but fails to account for the exclusion step - by adding the Heaviside truncation, the TH model provides a qualitatively correct description of both the SSE and the exclusion step. However, quantitatively the TH model does somewhat worse than the ErfLog and Exp models by failing to account for the finite width of the step.

Fourier transforming, we look to see what happens under the various treatments of exclusion in configuration space. The result is shown in the right panel of Fig. 9. Here the quantity on the vertical axis (top panel) is a measure of the error induced by not treating the exclusion step and simply using the "continuous model" $\xi^{(c)}$ with fiducial (Poisson) shot noise $\frac{1}{n}$. $P^{(c)}(k)$ is the (analytic) Fourier transform of $\xi^{(c)}(r)$ that is fit up to the peak of the halo correlation function (TH in the top left panel but without the threshold). The simulation points in the top-right panel and the red curve in the lower-right panel illustrate that modeling the SSE but totally ignoring the exclusion step induces a 5% error on scales between $k = 0.1 - 1 \ h/Mpc$, which is actually larger than if we had simply used $P^{(ls)}$, the Fourier transform of large-scale model $\xi^{(ls)}$. This can be understood from the fact that the non-Poisson correction in the large-scale limit $(k \to 0)$ is given by the integral $\int d^3r\xi^d(r)$. The large-scale model $\xi^{(ls)}$ both underestimates $\xi^{(d)}$ on scales where the SSE is relevant and overestimates it when the discrete correlation goes to zero, resulting in an accidental, but only partial, cancellation in the integral. This results in the wrong non-Poisson correction, but

⁷However, for lower mass bins, the large-scale finite-size correction is super-Poisson rather than sub-Poisson, which is expected from the explanation of B13.



Figure 9. Illustration of (HZPT) contributions to exclusion for bin 7 (log $M_h \in [13.5, 14]$. Left: Correlation function with several different exclusion models. ErfLog denotes the model of B13 (with σ_{exc} free), while Exp denotes the model described in Appendix B.1 (that has correction with analytic FT). TH denotes the simple thresholding of the continuous model, and is clearly not sufficient to capture the width of the exclusion step. Right: Corresponding power spectra (evaluated via FFTLog). $P^{(c)}$ denotes the (analytic) continuous model using best-fit HZPT parameters to the correlation function. TH in this case is equivalent to the window function expression terms of B13 (but without truncating the expansion). The solid purple curve denotes the large-scale model $P^{(ls)}$ resulting from fitting $\xi^{(ls)}$ above 10 Mpc/h.

one that produces a smaller residual in the bottom-right panel Fig. 9 than for the continuous model $P^{(c)}$. $P^{(c)}$ only includes positive contributions to this integral, and produces a too super-Poisson correction without the negative contributions from the exclusion step. Adding the simple Heaviside threshold qualitatively accounts for both types of correction and tames the residuals to be about 2-3%. Using the more accurate exclusion step models produces negligible error at a fraction of a percent.

We note that these residuals are computed with respect to the discrete power spectrum (which includes fiducial shot noise), so all errors would be amplified were shot noise sub-tracted⁸. Since the effect of ignoring exclusion is scale-dependent, it is not possible to cleanly relate cutoffs at a particular scale in configuration space with cutoffs at a particular wavenumber k in Fourier space. Furthermore, we see through the comparison of the residuals of $P^{(ls)}$, $P^{(c)}$, and the step models that starting on quasi-linear scales and fitting a configuration space model down to progressively smaller scales induces an exclusion correction in Fourier space that initially increases before decreasing to approach the correct non-Poisson value. It would

⁸This amplification would of course get worse at higher k as the amplitude of the continuous power spectrum decreases - in practice quick calculations residuals with respect to the shot noise subtracted power spectrum for bin 6 can be above 10% at k = 1 h/Mpc

be interesting to further quantify how this behavior affects other biasing models that stop at a particular minimum scale r_{\min} such that $R_{\text{exc}} < r_{\min} < 10 \text{ Mpc}/h$.

By way of this example, we see that ignoring the effects of exclusion (or stochasticity in general) as is sometimes done in small-scale biasing models of the tracer correlation functions, will necessarily result in incorrect behavior over a relatively wide range of wavenumbers in Fourier space. Coming back to our fits to the power spectrum, this is seen in Fig. 8, where percent-level excursions are visible in P_{hh} . These excursions seem more pronounced at lower mass, reflecting the fact that the distinct LSE and SSE identified in the correlation function are not well-modeled by a single $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ BB term. The apparently smaller residuals for higher mass bins is, however, partially a consequence of shot noise constituting a larger fraction of the total power on small scales due to lower halo number density at higher mass.

Despite the fact that the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ fits in Fig. 8 don't explicitly include exclusion, they are still relatively accurate since the Fourier space BB term and free shot noise terms are implicitly modeling exclusion. This may be explained by the fact that at leading order the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ BB term and the simple threshold model scale as k^2 , so the BB term (or any k^2 term) might capture the leading-order behavior of exclusion. However, a more realistic model of exclusion (e.g. the Exp or ErfLog model) is more complicated than a simple k^2 term (see Appendix B.1 for the form of this expression for the Exp model). These models introduce an additional parameter R_{exc} to the HZPT model, but knowledge of this parameter exactly gives the value of the non-Poisson correction in the large-scale limit, eliminating the need for the free shot noise parameter in the power spectrum. We conclude that percent-level accuracy of a model without exclusion in Fourier space is largely due to the relative importance of the free shot noise term and the leading-order k^2 behavior of exclusion, and not due to a correct model of high-k behavior, which must include the non-perturbative effects associated with halo exclusion.

6 Galaxies and Satellites

The transition regime for galaxy-galaxy and galaxy-matter correlators is affected by both the details of satellite occupation and halo exclusion. The model of Section 5 for halos already includes exclusion, and we build upon that model by accounting for the presence of satellite galaxies in this section. We consider two different galaxy samples produced according to the HOD prescriptions presented in Section 2 to test the flexibility of this model. We focus on configuration space fits and use them to estimate joint density with cosmology but also provide fits to power spectra. We take a pragmatic approach throughout this section, using the minimal HZPT model necessary to achieve percent-level accuracy for the galaxy two-point correlators at $k \approx 1 \ h/Mpc$ and $r \approx 1 - 2 \ Mpc/h$.

6.1 Small-scale galaxy clustering

The galaxy-matter correlators are analogous to the case of halo-matter correlators, but are slightly complicated by the presence of satellites. On the largest scales considered here, galaxy-matter correlators are well-described by linear bias with ZA and compensation. In addition to the correlation between a particular central galaxy and the matter profile of its host halo, there is now another contribution from the correlation between matter and satellites. The satellite fraction will impact the amplitude of the intra-halo correlations, which in turn will affect the slope and location of the transition feature described in Section 5. The smallest scale correlations are then completely governed by the halo dark matter and satellite profiles.

In our simple HOD mocks, satellites are drawn from an NFW profile. However, since the form of the BB term is profile-agnostic due to the general form of the Padé expression, there should be no great difficulty in modeling other qualitatively similar profiles (i.e. more complicated satellite profiles).

The galaxy-galaxy correlation function ξ_{gg} is more complicated than the auto-correlation function for halos. In addition to the steep drop in the correlation function near the effective exclusion scale that is expected for halos, we must consider the role of satellite galaxies. As explored in detail by [94] (see their Fig. 1) and H17, there are additional types of correlations: 1. between centrals and satellites in different halos, 2. and centrals and satellites in the same halo, as well as 3. between satellites in different halos, and 4. satellites in the same halo. While 2. and 4. essentially serve to change the correlation function on scales relevant to the satellite profiles (i.e. roughly the combination of the profile and its self-convolution), 1. and 3. effectively introduce contributions that are versions of the central-central correlation function (with the exclusion step) that have been smoothed out over the halo scale. This smoothing of the exclusion scale will serve to broaden the exclusion step present for halos in the galaxy auto-correlation.

To deal with these complications, we introduce some additions to the HZPT model. We do not model each of the terms outlined in [94] separately, instead lumping some of them together into an effective HZPT model for $\xi_{gg}(r)$. We allow for the smoothing of the exclusion step through freeing σ_{exc} to be larger than the value (≈ 0.1) that was acceptable for halos. Additionally, we add a satellite profile term (an additional BB term with $n_{\text{max}} = 1$) that has two free parameters (with subscript 1s), since we fix $R_{1s} = 10^3$. On these scales, this choice is the same as providing no compensation for the satellite profile. The A_{1s} and R_{1s} will vary depending on the details of the satellite occupation, e.g. with the amplitude scaling with the satellite fraction. So the full equation for galaxies with exclusion (in configuration space) is:

$$\xi_{gg}^{(\text{exc})}(r) = \xi_{hh}(r) + b_1 \xi_{BB,1s}^{n_{\text{max}}=1}(r) = b_1 \left[F_{\text{exc}} \left(\xi_{ZA} + \xi_{BB}^{n_{\text{max}}=1} \right) + \xi_{BB,1s}^{n_{\text{max}}=1}(A_{1s}, R_{1h,1s}) \right]$$
(6.1)

where the bias b_1 is free (not fixed to the halo bias value) and we suppressed arguments except for the new parameters in the second line. Here the 1s BB term is compatible with the usual BB interpretation and we can think of it (correctly) as a k^2 expansion in the satellite profile. Adding this term does not ruin the analytic Fourier transform, which will have a form that is the product of two Lorentzians (as for matter) in Fourier space.

The effects in the transition regime for HOD mock galaxy clustering will necessarily be more complicated than that of halos (even ignoring satellites) since the HOD applies a threshold for the central occupation which spans the equivalent of several halo mass bins. This means that the "cross-stochasticity" (B13, [87]) of exclusion in different bins will contribute more strongly to the central auto-correlations. However, we find that this is not something that needs to be modeled explicitly when fitting, which may have to do with the fact that the cross-stochasticity is either close to constant or of a similar scale dependence to that of the auto-stochasticity (c.f. H17 Fig 4).

6.2 Two HOD mocks

The CM and LZ samples are produced using two different underlying simulations, and complement each other in the trade-off of resolution and number of simulated cosmologies. The CM sample is produced from a simulation with a factor of 10 larger volume than the LZ sample and allows for a cleaner test of model accuracy due to a reduction in resolution effects.⁹ Fits to mocks from the LZ sample have increased noise with respect to to CM mocks due to smaller volume and a resulting smaller number of HOD galaxies, but still allow us to map the HOD basis of parameters onto the HZPT basis of parameters and provide a joint distribution of the HZPT parameters and cosmological parameters.

The CM sample covers a wide range of HOD parameters that are centered on the BOSS CMASS parameter space to illustrate the flexibility of the HZPT model (parameter space described in Section 2). The parameter space covers a wide range of satellite fractions ($f_s = 0.01 - 0.65$), the highest values of which are still consistent with observed galaxy samples [96] (though these may differ significantly from BOSS). We emphasize that this choice of "CMASS" parameters is not to be taken too literally, as we do not enforce that the HOD mocks reproduce the CMASS clustering, only approximately the CMASS number density and are produced at a similar redshift. The HOD parameter ranges are based on [46], but are taken to be more general - and use FoF rather than SO halos. The purpose of this sample is more illustrative and conceptual - to demonstrate that a wide range of HOD parameters can expose halo exclusion for certain mock galaxy samples, and that HZPT provides a good description of two-point correlators even in this case. The LZ sample is more realistic in the sense that the HOD parameters are close to those favored by LOWZ clustering [97, 98]. These differences mean that a different minimal HZPT model is necessary to reach percent-level accuracy for each sample at the scales we address in this section.

6.2.1 Configuration space results

The galaxy-matter cross correlators in both the CM and LZ mock samples are well fit by the same model used for halo-matter cross correlation - the base HZPT model with $n_{max} = 2$ with the linear bias b_1 . Despite the presence of satellites, the transition regime (including the outer part of the halo profile for CM) is well-modeled by the R_{nh} parameters. Fits are performed from $r = 1 - 70 \ h/Mpc$ in configuration space (and from $k = 0.01 - 1 \ h/Mpc$ in Fourier space). Errors for fits to the LZ power spectra include diagonal Gaussian+Poisson covariance and variance estimated from repopulating HODs at 10 different random seeds (which we take as independent of any particular HOD realization), while the CM power spectrum errors are based only on Gaussian+Poisson covariance.

The $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ HZPT model is sufficient to attain several-percent accuracy in both the galaxy-matter and galaxy-galaxy correlation function (generally 1-2%, but this is limited by uncertainty due to resolution in the case of LZ - the rms error is always less than 1% [2%] below 40 Mpc/h for ξ_{gm} [ξ_{gg}]) down to r = 2 Mpc/h for LZ. For CM the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ model is also sufficient for 2%-level accuracy ξ_{gm} r = 1 Mpc/h, but for ξ_{gg} we require the model of eqn. 6.1 to capture the complications due to the satellites and exclusion effects present in this sample to produce an accuracy of 2% above r = 2 Mpc/h. We find that for most choices of HOD parameters, fits in both gm and gg (with the satellite terms) provide fits accurate to 1% down to $r \approx 0.5$ Mpc/h for the CM sample. However, to be conservative and accommodate all HOD parameters considered, here we fit ξ_{gg} only down to r = 1 Mpc/h for the galaxy-matter correlation function ξ_{gm} is fit to 1% accuracy down to r = 1 Mpc/h for

⁹The qualitative features of the exclusion step do not appear to depend much on the use of FastPM. Using a subset of the same HOD parameters (albeit at a slightly different cosmology) we check the qualitative features (and scales) of the exclusion feature are similar using FoF catalogs produced by a TreePM code ([95], described in H17).

all but three of the highest satellite fraction HODs, in which case the accuracy quoted is 2% (10). All CM mock HODs with $f_s > 0.55$ (very high for realistic LRG samples even given the general parameterization used here) have correlators plotted as gray curves in the figures. There is a downward shift in scale in the transition regime between the two samples, which we discuss in Section 6.2.3.



Figure 10. Left: Galaxy-galaxy correlation function residuals for the 100 CM HOD mocks. Right: Galaxy-matter correlation function residuals for the 100 CM HOD mocks. Grey curves correspond to HOD mocks with $f_s > 0.55$. Colored regions mark 1% (red), and 2% (blue), errors are diagonal Gaussian+Poisson (these are meant as a visual guide only, and the errors are correlated). The HZPT model used in these fits is the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ model for ξ_{gm} and the satellite-enhanced $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ model with exclusion (eqn. 6.1) for ξ_{gg} .



Figure 11. Left: Residuals for the $n_{\max} = 2$ model for ξ_{gg} for all 200 cosmology and HOD parameter combinations. (*Right:*) The same for ξ_{gm} . Colored bands show 1 and 2%, and errors (black dashed) give 1σ Gaussian+Poisson variance (these are meant as a visual guide only, and the errors are correlated), with additional stochastic HOD error added in quadrature to the ξ_{gg} error. The HZPT model used in these fits is the $n_{\max} = 2$ model for both ξ_{gm} and ξ_{gg} . The more involved model of eqn. 6.1 is not necessary for percent-level accuracy for the LZ sample.

6.2.2 Fourier space results

As discussed in Section 5, exclusion in Fourier space is largely suppressed by scale-independent shot noise, and the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ model performs decently well for $P_{gg}(k)$. We see that for all but three of the HOD mock power spectra considered, the residuals are always less than 3%, and are usually less than 1%. Again, gray curves correspond to HOD mocks with $f_s > 0.55$, and account for the residuals exceeding 2%. The three offending curves correspond to the $f_s > 0.5$ cases mentioned for the correlation function. From the top panel of Fig. 12, we can see that these are the highest-biased cases and the wiggle-shape of the excursions in the transition regime are what would be expected from ignoring exclusion, as we have done here. Contrary to the case of halos, the number density is fixed in the CM sample, so the fiducial shot noise is kept fixed as the preference for population of galaxies in halo masses changes. For the highest mass halos, we would not expect to see the transition wiggle feature due to the high value of shot noise, but for these high satellite fraction models high-mass halos are preferred and we essentially reduce to the case of a high-mass halo bin where the exclusion feature is smoothed and shot noise is reduced (satellites act to up-weight the importance of the halo correlation with respect to the shot noise).

The fits in the power spectrum should not be taken to mean that exclusion is not important for an accurate description of two-point statistics, and the lessons of mapping between configuration space and Fourier space recounted in 5 still apply.



Figure 12. Left: Galaxy-galaxy power spectra and residuals for the 100 CM HOD mocks. Right: Galaxy-matter power spectra and residuals for the 100 CM HOD mocks. Grey curves correspond to HOD mocks with $f_s > 0.55$. Colored regions mark 1% (red), and 2% (blue). The HZPT model used in these fits is the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ model for P_{gm} and the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ model without exclusion for P_{gg} .

We find that the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ HZPT model used for the galaxy-matter correlators is sufficient to attain several-percent accuracy (generally 2-3%, as limited by uncertainty due to resolution - the rms error is always less than 2% over the range of fit) down to k = 1h/Mpc for the galaxy auto-correlators for the LZ sample. For the LZ HOD mocks, the exclusion feature is essentially undetected by the fits on the scales we consider (and the feature is totally absent for 90% of the HOD mock correlation functions) and is not present by eye in Fig. 11. Thus, the more complicated model including exclusion described above (and necessary for CM) is totally unnecessary. This is due to the position of the exclusion feature for the LZ sample, which is at particularly small scales, and which we discuss in the next section.

We find that using an augmented two-halo term similar to the one described in Section



Figure 13. Left: Residuals for the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ model for P_{gg} for all 200 cosmology and HOD parameter combinations. Right: The same for the $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ model (without exclusion) for P_{gm} . Colored bands show 1 and 2%, and errors (black dashed) give 1σ Gaussian+Poisson variance, with additional stochastic HOD error added in quadrature to the P_{gg} error.

4.2 can result in fits that are accurate at $k \approx 10 \ h/\text{Mpc}$ with a single transfer function parameter for P_{gm} in some HOD realizations. We also find that exclusion modeling in addition to a k-space version of the satellite profile term similar to eqn. 6.1 can result in improved fits in P_{gg} . An extension of the results presented in this section to higher k using an augmented two-halo term and exclusion is therefore an interesting direction for future work employing HZPT modeling.

6.2.3 Comparison of mocks

Exclusion is much more prevalent in the CM sample than in the LZ sample. When exclusion does occur, it does so on scales of 0.6 - 0.7 Mpc/h in LZ^{10} rather than around 2 Mpc/h as seems typical for CM. For $\log M \in [13.5, 14]$ (bin 7), which is completely covered by the selection of halos populated by the HOD mocks, the CM exclusion step spans 1.3-2.6 Mpc/h, while for LZ it spans 0.7 - 1.0 Mpc/h. This is consistent with the scales of the dips of the exclusion features in the galaxy-galaxy correlation function for both samples (Fig. 14). For the LZ mocks, exclusion is only visible for very low satellite fractions ($f_s < .05$), while for the CM sample it is present the majority of the time ($\approx 80\%$). For CM, in fact, the only time the model does not seem to show exclusion is when $\sigma_{\log M}$ is very large - suggesting that the sharp climb of the halo occupation may to some extent be driving the visibility the exclusion feature.

A reason for the difference between CM and LZ is that both the choices of halo finder and halo mass used strongly influence the exclusion feature. The halo catalog for LZ was produced by ROCKSTAR and uses "strict SO" 200b masses, which includes unbound particles that are not part of the ROCKSTAR group in a given halo. The CM halo catalog simply uses FoF (as implemented in nbodykit) masses with linking length b = 0.2. We describe this effect in further detail in Appendix C.

¹⁰This comparison was performed using Box 20 of the Aemulus simulations, which is close to the cosmology used to generate CM, but for more disparate cosmologies the effect may be significant (already the fact that some boxes exhibit exclusion and some do not may point in this direction)

Literature to date focusing on exclusion has relied on both FoF halos (e.g. B13, [91]) and SO halos (e.g. [92]). If one is consistent in a choice of FoF halos or SO halos in a mockbased analysis using HOD galaxies, the treatment of exclusion will also be consistent. The LZ implementation is thus more realistic in the sense that the analysis of [46] used a SO halo finder to obtain the HOD constraints. But even within the context of SO masses, the effect of SO vs strict SO masses can have an effect on the correlation function due to the rapid growth of the exclusion feature at small scales (Fig. 21). In HOD-based modeling it is then desirable to in some sense marginalize over halo definition. Ref. [97] used a free parameter ($R_{\rm rescale}$) to do this, using the justification that the main effect of varying halo definition is the effect on halo radii as related to matter and satellite profiles. However, as shown here, the impact of halo definition on tracer correlators is not just through the one-halo term, but also through the two-halo term via exclusion.

While in Section 5, finding the minimum effective HZPT model that is accurate at the percent level required careful modeling of non-perturbative halo clustering, for mock HOD galaxies we find the reality to be more complicated. Depending on the galaxy sample and host halo definition, exclusion may or may not be an effect that is necessary to model at this level of accuracy. The CM sample contains HOD populations that often require a more involved model of halo exclusion and satellite contributions, while the LZ sample only shows exclusion on scales smaller than 1 Mpc/h, so we can safely ignore them when aiming for percent-level accuracy above these scales.



Figure 14. Comparison of fits to galaxy correlators for different samples when exclusion is present. Correlation function for mock galaxies for a single HOD from the CM sample (with satellite fraction $f_s = 0.29$). Right: Correlation function for mock galaxies for a single HOD from the LZ sample (with satellite fraction $f_s = 0.01$).

6.3 Correlations with cosmological parameters

We use the LZ sample and the best-fit HZPT parameters for galaxy-matter and galaxy-galaxy two-point correlators to outline an approach to estimating a joint prior of HZPT model parameters and cosmological parameters. In particular, we use Sliced Iterative Generator (SIG) [99] to perform density estimation of the HZPT parameters on the set of 200 LZ correlation functions. Potential analyses employing HZPT as the model for two-point correlators could then use such a density as a prior for analysis. Fig. 15 shows projections of a reduced density (considering only Ω_m and σ_8) for HZPT parameters that vary significantly with Ω_m and σ_8 . The fitted R, R_1^2, R_{2h} parameters not shown do vary significantly with Ω_m and σ_8 , but have strong degeneracies with R_{1h} so have been removed for visibility. We also note that, as men-



Figure 15. Projection of density estimated from the best-fit HZPT parameters for the LZ sample using 10 of the Aemulus simulations (Ω_m, σ_8). Best-fit parameters used for training are overplotted as black points. The R, R_1^2 and R_{2h} parameters also fitted are not shown for visibility, and are often strongly degenerate with the displayed parameters.

tioned in the previous section, we are usually not fitting non-perturbative effects near halo scales in the LZ sample.

This approach trades interpolation error (as in a standard emulator) for approximation error (through density estimation) and is more flexible than a typical emulator, as one can tweak the priors manually without running a new set of expensive simulations. Of course, there should be a physical reason for shifting or narrowing the priors, but simply broadening the priors may account for increased uncertainty about a particular galaxy or tracer sample. We also anticipate that constructing such an emulator-style tool from HZPT would require fewer training samples evaluated at distinct values of cosmological parameters. This is because the forms of the HZPT correlators are more restrictive than the form of a typical emulator.

The galaxy-galaxy and galaxy-matter A_0 parameters show a negative correlation with Ω_m and a positive correlation with σ_8 , both of which are consistent with the sign of the power laws fitted for the matter power spectrum in Section 4 and in SV15 (for σ_8). The parameter

 R_{1h} seems to have the opposite relationship, which might at first appear surprising. However, note the relationship between cosmological parameters shown in the top left panel. This is a reflection of the design strategy of the Aemulus simulations, which are based on Planck constraints [24]. Since Ω_m increases as σ_8 decreases, it is not straightforward to meaningfully disentangle dependence on Ω_m and σ_8 individually. In any event, it is clear that the HZPT parameters shown are not independent of cosmology, and depend strongly on at least some combination of Ω_m and σ_8 with scatter that is captured in the density width. We aim to provide a more quantitative comparison of the effect of different HZPT priors on cosmological constraining power in future work.

7 Conclusions

In this paper we expand the Halo-Zeldovich Perturbation Theory approach to accurately model two-point correlators of matter and tracers well into the nonlinear regime. For all correlators, the models are generally accurate at the percent level down to $k < 1 \ h/Mpc$ $(r > 2 \ Mpc/h)$ in Fourier (configuration) space. A summary of HZPT models used in this paper is provided in Table 1. An additional benefit of two-point correlators in HZPT is that the corrections to the (linearly biased) ZA contributions have analytic Fourier transforms, and we provide expressions and fits for both forms of the correlators. Being analytic, this model is well suited to fast inference and gradient-based sampling, and we make the model and gradients available through a lightweight python package¹¹.

Model	Parameters	(k_{\max}, r_{\min})
$mm: n_{\max} = 2$	$\{A_0, R, R_{1h}, R_1, R_{2h}\}$	(1, 1)
$mm:n_{\max}=3$	$\{A_0, R, R_{1h}, R_1, R_{2h}, R_2, R_{3h}\}$	$(8, \cdot)$
$mm: alt + n_{max} = 2$	$\{A_0, R, R_{1h}, R_1, R_{2h}, \alpha, \beta\}$	$(10, \cdot)$
$hm: n_{\max} = 2$	$\{b_1, A_0, R, R_{1h}, R_1, R_{2h}\}$	(1, 2)
$hh: n_{\max} = 1$	$\{\frac{1}{\bar{n}_{\rm eff}}, b_1, A_0, R, R_{1h}, \}$	$(1, \cdot)$
$hh: n_{\max} = 2 + \exp(hh)$	$\{b_1, A_0, R, R_{1h}, R_1, R_{2h}, R_{\text{exc}}, (\sigma_{\text{exc}})\}$	(2, 2)
$gm: n_{\max} = 2$	$\{b_1, A_0, R, R_{1h}, R_1, R_{2h}\}$	(1, 2)
$gg:n_{\max}=1$	$\{\frac{1}{\bar{n}_{\text{eff}}}, b_1, A_0, R, R_{1h}, \}$	$(1, \cdot)$
$gg:n_{\max}=2$	$\{b_1, A_0, R, R_{1h}, R_1, R_{2h}\}$	$(\cdot, 2)$
$gg: n_{\max} = 1 + \exp + 1s$	$ \{b_1, A_0, R, R_{1h}, R_{\text{exc}}, \sigma_{\text{exc}}, A_{1s}, R_{1s, 1h} \}$	$(\cdot, 2)$

Table 1. A subset of HZPT models used in this paper and their ranges of validity for different correlators. Free shot noise constants $\frac{1}{\bar{n}_{eff}}$ are only applicable for power spectra. Scales are quoted in units of ([h/Mpc], [Mpc/h]) in the last column when available. The accuracy of all models in this table is *at least* 2%, but see individual sections for details.

We demonstrate that the effect of a wide range of baryonic feedback models on the matter power spectrum - as implemented by hydrodynamical simulations - can be accounted for within the HZPT framework. These changes can be understood in terms of the halo model (see Appendix A.3). We also provide two extended models extending the one and two-halo terms. The extended two-halo term improves upon the ZA and can reach 1% accuracy out to $k = 10 \ h/Mpc$ when paired with the $n_{max} = 2$ BB term for dark matter. The extended one-halo term model is of comparable accuracy to contemporary nonlinear models (Appendix A.4)

¹¹https://pypi.org/project/gzpt/ **O**

out to $k \approx 8 \ h/\text{Mpc}$ for matter (including a high-feedback model of baryonic effects) and we provide power law scalings to account for variation in dark matter correlators with respect to the cosmological parameters Ω_m and σ_8 .

Halo-matter and halo-halo correlators are well-described by the HZPT model when the non-perturbative phenomenon of halo exclusion is accounted for. Halo clustering is characterized in configuration space by a large-scale enhancement above $\sim 10 \ h/{\rm Mpc}$, a nonperturbative small-scale enhancement above the exclusion scale, and a sharp step at the exclusion scale. We provide a one-parameter analytic model for the exclusion step that has analytic Fourier transform, and the small-scale enhancement is well-modeled by the BB correction term. Properly modeling halo exclusion in configuration space guarantees the correct behavior in Fourier space, including exactly accounting for sub/super-Poisson shot noise in the large-scale limit. Including shot noise in the residuals, the amplitude of the exclusion contribution with respect to the total halo-halo power spectrum is relevant at the several percent level for $k > 0.1 \ h/Mpc$ and the contribution is scale-dependent. We emphasize that perturbative models of halo bias that attempt to describe small scales are necessarily incomplete without a (non-perturbative) model of halo exclusion, and will fail dramatically in configuration space near the exclusion scale. We find that without explicitly modeling exclusion in the power spectrum, we obtain residuals less than 2% below $k \approx 0.7 \ h/Mpc$, as the $n_{\rm max} = 1$ BB term along with a free constant shot noise appears to account for the leadingorder effect of exclusion. However, we warn that perturbative models of halo clustering that appear accurate in Fourier space at these higher k are in part modeling the scale-dependent effects of non-perturbative exclusion.

Galaxy-galaxy and galaxy-matter correlators are accurately captured by HZPT in the context of LRG-like HOD mock galaxies. Exclusion can be relevant in the simulated galaxy-galaxy correlation function for certain choices of HOD parameters, halo mass, and halo finder. We provide an estimated density that captures the relation of HZPT parameters with Ω_m and σ_8 for HOD mocks that closely resemble the BOSS LOWZ sample. Recently, emulators for tracer two-point statistics have become extremely popular [18, 29, 31, 97, 100–105], and have provided useful and effective interpolations of simulation statistics. However, these surrogate models are usually complicated to construct and are often dependent on a number of hyperparameters, making them opaque to interpretation even beyond the inability to write down a simulation as a closed-form model. One can easily use HZPT to build a more interpretable tool similar to an emulator through the simple approach outlined in Section 6.3 using estimated priors to quantify uncertainty.

For certain galaxy samples, it is possible that exclusion may stand out in the observed projected correlation function (depending on satellite fraction, host halo mass, or selection effects - there is perhaps a hint of this in right panel of Fig. 3 of [106]). Whether or not halo exclusion is important to include in an effective model for use in analyses is at the very least an assumption that should be checked, especially as more diverse tracers become widely used in future surveys.

One aspect of tracer auto-correlations we did not treat in this paper is the effect of cross-stochasticity, which might be especially relevant for combining populations of tracers occupying significantly different mass halos. We did not explore the redshift dependence of the model parameters for tracers, but anticipate it may be fit relatively simply as in H17. We also have not treated redshift-space distortions or other observational systematics, which of course are essential for connecting to observed two-point statistics. Finally, assuming Lagrangian density peaks are the sites of halo formation, halo exclusion will also depend on

cosmology at some level [90], and so is of particular interest as measurements of cosmological information through large-scale two-point statistics of LSS are saturated and small scales remain potentially under-extracted.

HZPT serves to bring analytic descriptions of two-point correlators further into the transition and nonlinear regimes, and is a fast and interpretable complement to simulationbased models. The success of HZPT on small scales illustrates the flexibility of Padé-type expressions for modeling two-point correlators. The form of these expressions is quite simple compared to multi-loop PT, modified halo and HOD models, and most emulators. We expect that the small-scale treatment of so-called "3x2pt" analyses can be significantly improved by leveraging HZPT.

Acknowledgments

We use numpy [107], scipy [108], astropy [109], nbodykit [54], corrfunc [56], halotools [61] and FFTW [110], CLASS [58], CAMB [111], and mcfit [112]. We thank Martin White, Shi-Fan Chen, Zvonimir Vlah, and Joseph DeRose for helpful comments on a draft version of this paper. We also thank Shi-Fan Chen for sharing an early version of fast Zeldovich code from velocileptors, Zvonimir Vlah for providing a notebook used to compute integrals for [66] as well as suggesting Section 4.2.2, and Joseph DeRose for assistance with the Aemulus simulations.

JMS acknowledges support from the U.S. Department of Energy Computational Science Graduate Fellowship via grant DE-SC0019323. SS acknowledges support from the McWilliams postdoctoral fellowship at Carnegie Mellon University. This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant Numbers 1814370 and NSF 1839217, and by NASA under Grant Number 80NSSC18K1274.

This research used resources of the National Energy Research Scientific Computing Center (NERSC), a U.S. Department of Energy Office of Science User Facility located at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, operated under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231.

A Details of Halo-Zeldovich Perturbation Theory

A.1 Full Model $(n_{\max} \leq 2)$

Here we provide the full HZPT model in its basic form, with explicit expressions for $n_{\text{max}} = 0, 1, 2$.

$$P^{mm} = P_{\text{Zel}} + P_{BB}^{mm} \tag{A.1}$$

$$P^{tm} = b_{tm}(P_{\rm Zel} + P_{BB}^{tm}) \tag{A.2}$$

$$P^{tt} = \frac{1}{\bar{n}_t} + b_{tt}^2 (P_{\text{Zel}} + P_{BB}^{tt})$$
(A.3)

$$P_{BB} = A_0 \left(1 - \frac{1}{1 + k^2 R^2} \right) \frac{\sum_{n=0}^{n_{\max}-1} k^{2n} R_n^{2n}}{\sum_{n=0}^{n_{\max}} k^{2n} R_{nh}^{2n}}$$
(A.4)

 $n_{\rm max} = 0$

$$P_{BB}(k) = F_{\text{comp}}(k) = A_0 \left(1 - \frac{1}{1 + k^2 R^2} \right)$$
(A.5)

$$\xi_{BB}(r) = F_{\rm comp}(r) = -A_0 \frac{e^{-\bar{R}}}{4\pi R^2}$$
(A.6)

 $n_{\rm max} = 1$

$$P_{BB}(k) = P_{BB} = F_{\rm comp}(k) \frac{1}{1 + k^2 R_{1h}^2}$$
(A.7)

$$\xi_{BB}(r) = F_{\text{comp}}(r) \frac{\left(1 - \left(\frac{R}{R_{1h}}\right)^2 e^{-\frac{R-R_{1h}}{RR_{1h}}r}\right)}{\left(1 - \left(\frac{R_{1h}}{R}\right)^2\right)}$$
(A.8)

 $n_{\rm max} = 2$

$$P_{BB}(k) = F_{\text{comp}}(k) \frac{1 + k^2 R_1^2}{1 + k^2 R_{1h}^2 + k^4 R_{2h}^4}$$
(A.9)

$$\xi_{BB}(r) = F_{\text{comp}}(r) \left(\frac{\left(1 - \left(\frac{R_1}{R}\right)^2\right) + Ae^{r\left(\frac{1}{R} - \frac{\sqrt{R_{1h}^2 - S}}{\sqrt{2R_{2h}^2}}\right)} + Be^{r\left(\frac{1}{R} - \frac{\sqrt{R_{1h}^2 + S}}{\sqrt{2R_{2h}^2}}\right)}}{\left(1 - \left(\frac{R_{1h}}{R}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{R_{2h}}{R}\right)^4\right)} \right), \quad (A.10)$$

$$S = \sqrt{R_{1h}^4 - 4R_{2h}^4}, \quad (A.11)$$

$$A = \frac{R^2(-2R_{2h}^4 + R1^2(R_{1h}^2 - S)) + R_{2h}^4(R_{1h}^2 - S) + R_1^2(-R_{1h}^4 + 2R_{2h}^4 + R_{1h}^2S)}{2SR_{2h}^4}, \quad (A.12)$$

$$B = -\frac{R^2(-2R_{2h}^4 + R1^2(R_{1h}^2 + S)) + R_{2h}^4(R_{1h}^2 + S) + R_1^2(-R_{1h}^4 + 2R_{2h}^4 - R_{1h}^2S)}{2SR_{2h}^4}.$$
 (A.13)

In this work, we reparameterize R_{2h} as $R_{2h} \equiv \frac{R_{1h}}{\sqrt{2}R_{12}}$ and vary the parameter R_{12} in our fits. We enforce $R_{12} \geq 1$, since otherwise the $n_{\max} = 2$ correlation function BB term takes on imaginary values. Analytic gradients in the python package are adjusted accordingly to be gradients of R_{12} .

We show the BB term gradients for $n_{\text{max}} = 1, 2$ in Fig. 16.

A.2 Profile expansion

This closely follows Section 2 of MS14. Starting from 3.4, we expand the $j_0(kr)$ integral in its argument:

$$u_M(k) = \frac{4\pi}{M} \int_0^{R_{\text{halo}}} dr \ r^2 \ \rho_M(r) \left(1 - \frac{k^2 r^2}{3!} + \frac{k^4 r^4}{5!} - \dots \right)$$
(A.14)

and the modulus squared of the profile is

$$|u_M(k)|^2 = |\mathcal{F}_0(M)k^0 - \mathcal{F}_1(M)k^2 + \mathcal{F}_2(M)k^4 - \dots|^2$$
(A.15)



Figure 16. Gradients of the $P_{BB}(k)$ (*left*) and $r^2 \xi_{BB}(r)$ (*right*). Solid lines are gradients for the $n_{\max} = 2$ model, while dashed lines are for the $n_{\max} = 1$ model. For visibility for P_{BB} the A_0 and R gradients have been multiplied by 100 and 10, respectively. For visibility for ξ_{BB} the A_0 and R gradients have both been multiplied by 1000.

where

,

$$\mathcal{F}_n(M) \equiv \frac{4\pi}{(2n+1)!M} \int_0^{R_{\text{halo}}} dr \ r^{2(1+n)} \ \rho_M(r). \tag{A.16}$$

Then the one-halo term becomes

$$P_{1h}(k) = \int dn(M) \frac{M}{\bar{\rho}} \left(\mathcal{F}_0^2 k^0 - 2\mathcal{F}_0 \mathcal{F}_1 k^2 + (\mathcal{F}_1^2 + 2\mathcal{F}_0 \mathcal{F}_2) k^4 - \ldots \right),$$
(A.17)

which, for order n_{max} , has Padé approximant with the same roots as given by the BB term in the previous section.

Introducing clarifying notation for the first few terms

$$P_{1h}(k) = A_0(1 - \tilde{R}_1^2 k^2 + \tilde{R}_2^4 k^4 + ...), \qquad (A.18)$$

where A_0 is the same as in the BB term. Explicitly, for $n_{\text{max}} = 1$, the relation between the BB parameters and the profile expansion parameters is simply $R_{1h} = \tilde{R}_1$, while for $n_{\text{max}} = 2$ the relations are the following:

$$R_{1h}^2 = \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_1^2 \widetilde{R}_2^4}{\widetilde{R}_1^4 - \widetilde{R}_2^4}\right),\tag{A.19}$$

$$R_{2h}^4 = \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_2^8}{\widetilde{R}_1^4 - \widetilde{R}_2^4}\right) \tag{A.20}$$

$$R_1^2 = \left(\frac{2\tilde{R}_1^2\tilde{R}_2^4 - \tilde{R}_1^6}{\tilde{R}_1^4 - \tilde{R}_2^4}\right).$$
 (A.21)

For $R_1^2 \ge 0$, we have $\widetilde{R}_1 \ge \widetilde{R}_2 \ge \frac{\widetilde{R}_1}{\sqrt{2}}$

A.3 Deriving $R_{n,nh}$ from the halo model with baryonic effects

To illustrate that it is possible to derive the HZPT $R_{n,nh}$ profile parameters in the context of baryonic effects from the halo model, we calculate them for the simple case of the mass function of [23] (M200c) and NFW profile [67] (with concentration c = 5 for simplicity). We approximate the impact of baryons on the HZPT parameters via "baryonified" profiles as modeled in [113] (and constrained by X-ray data). These profiles incorporate the presence of stellar mass and satellite galaxies, gas that has been pushed by feedback toward the edge of the halo, and the resulting response of the dark-matter profile to these changes (see Section 2 of [113]). We fix the free parameters of the baryon-matter profile to the best-fit values of [113] corresponding to the "Model B-avrg" scenario: $\eta_{cga} = 0.6$, $\eta_{star} = 0.32$ for the stellar profile, and $M_c = 6.6 \times 10^{13} M_{\odot}/h$, $\mu = 0.21$, $\theta_{ej} = 4$ in the determination of the gas profile.

Performing the integrals of eqn. A.16, we find, for the dark matter only (dmo) profile, that $(A_0, R_{1h}, R_1^2, R_{2h})_{dmo} = (1114 \ [h/Mpc]^3, 6.1 \ Mpc/h, 35 \ [Mpc/h]^2, 2.9 \ Mpc/h)$, and, for the baryon and dark matter profile (dmb), that $(A_0, R_{1h}, R_1^2, R_{2h})_{bdm} = (1112 \ [h/Mpc]^3, 5.1 \ Mpc/h, 24 \ [Mpc/h]^2, 2.6 \ Mpc/h)$.

The difference in A_0 is negligible, as we would expect since A_0 is essentially the one-halo amplitude (which was fixed in Section 4.1 along with R). However, the relative changes in the $R_{n,nh}$ parameters are significant, and are similar to those discussed in Section 4.1 (though the correspondence is not exact given the idealized setting). Here we may clearly identify the source of the change in parameters (after translating mass-integrated profile moments \tilde{R}_n to Padé parameters $R_{n,nh}$). The $\mathcal{F}_1(M)$ and $\mathcal{F}_2(M)$ values both grow uniformly in mass with respect to the dmo case, since in the dmb case the gas is pushed out toward the outskirts of the halo, where matter contributes more to the r^4 , r^6 moments.

The radius at which to truncate the \mathcal{F}_n integrals is somewhat unclear, but here we use a scale close to the truncation radius of the NFW profile for definiteness (with $R_{\text{halo}} = \frac{9}{8}\epsilon r_{200c}$ with $\epsilon = 4$). This choice of truncation radius results in good agreement in the enclosed masses of the dmo and dmb profiles, and is small enough to prevent the integrals from being sensitive to two-halo contributions (as modeled in [113]). There is a very small difference (~ 0.1%) in enclosed masses that is the source of the negligible difference in A_0 for the two profiles. Given the uncertain nature of realistic matter profiles (e.g. scatter in the concentration-mass relation), it remains advantageous to take an agnostic attitude toward halo profile details and avoid integrating directly as we do in the main text.

A.4 Comparison to HMCode2020

Figure 17 shows residuals of matter power spectrum predictions from HMCode2020 [82] with respect to the test set drawn from the Mira-Titan CosmicEmu [30]. The HMCode2020 predictions are as provided through CAMB [111]. Compared with Fig. 6, the residuals are similar on the largest scales, slightly larger residuals on quasi-linear scales, and very slightly smaller on the smallest scales. The residuals on quasi-linear scales appear larger than presented in Fig. 2 of [82], but are consistent with residuals with respect to Mira-Titan quoted in their Fig. D1 (we have CosmicEmu in the numerator, so our residuals are inverted with respect to theirs). The largest residuals at low k trend with low- σ_8 models and the largest residuals at 0.1 h/Mpc < k < 1 h/Mpc trend with both low- σ_8 models and high- Ω_{cb} models. From this comparison, it is clear that the HZPT model is competitive when varying σ_8 and Ω_{cb} .



Figure 17. Residuals for HMCode2020 with respect to the same CosmicEmu test set shown in the right panel of Figure 6.

B Halo correlator model components

B.1 Model for ξ_{hh} and P_{hh} including halo exclusion

Considering a general configuration-space model for the exclusion step $F_{\text{exc}}(r)$, the two-point function of the discrete halo field is modeled as

$$\xi_{hh}^{d}(r) - \frac{1}{\bar{n}} \delta^{D}(\mathbf{r}) = F_{\text{exc}}(r) \left[1 + \xi_{hh}^{c}(r)\right] - 1$$
(B.1)

which gives in Fourier space

$$P_{hh}^{d}(k) = \frac{1}{\bar{n}} + \mathcal{F}\left(F_{\text{exc}}(r)\left[1 + \xi_{hh}^{c}(r)\right] - 1\right)$$
(B.2)

$$= \frac{1}{\bar{n}} + \left[\mathcal{F}(F_{\text{exc}}(r)) * \mathcal{F}(1 + \xi_{hh}^{c}(r)) \right](k) - \delta^{(D)}(k)$$
(B.3)

$$= \frac{1}{\bar{n}} + F_{\text{exc}}(k) + \left[F_{\text{exc}}(k) * P^{(c)}(k)\right],$$
(B.4)

where we have dropped the zero-lag Dirac delta in the final expression.

We may also write this expression in a slightly clearer way conceptually, conforming to the convention of B13 (see eqn. B.1). Instead of specializing to the too-simple top-hat model for the exclusion step (c.f. Figure 9), we assume only that we may write $F_{\text{exc}}(r) = 1 - W(r)$, where W(r) is a function with analytic Fourier transform. Then, the expression is identical to eqn. 5.2, but we have taken the tiny step of generalizing the top-hat window to something more realistic:

$$P_{hh}^{d}(k) = \frac{1}{\bar{n}} + P^{(c)}(k) - \tilde{W}(k) - \left[\tilde{W} * P^{(c)}\right](k).$$
(B.5)

Also, we may define a finite-size stochastic contribution as the deviation of the true discrete power spectrum from the continuous model and the fiducial (Poisson) constant arising from discreteness:

$$S(k) = P^{(d)}(k) - \frac{1}{\bar{n}} - P^{(c)}(k)$$
(B.6)

$$= -\tilde{W}(k) - \left[\tilde{W} * P^{(c)}\right](k) \tag{B.7}$$

This is the quantity plotted in the right-hand panel of Figure 9, which quantifies the failure to include a model for exclusion in Fourier space.

As described in Section 5, we consider two effective models for the halo exclusion step, both of which perform much better than the simple top-hat. The ErfLog model (almost the same as B13) is:

$$F_{\rm exc}(r) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{\log_{10}\left(\frac{r}{R_{\rm exc}}\right)}{\sigma_{\rm exc}}\right) + 1 \right]$$
(B.8)

and the Exp model is

$$F_{\rm exc}(r, R_{\rm exc}) = \left[1 - \exp\left(-\left(\frac{r}{R_{\rm exc}}\right)^4\right)\right]^2.$$
 (B.9)

The ErfLog model has no analytic Fourier transform, which must be computed numerically. However, the Exp model has analytic Fourier transform, where the Fourier transform of the squared quantity is given by (defining the function f):

$$\delta^{(D)}(k) + f(k, R_{\text{exc}}) = \delta^{(D)}(k) - \frac{R_{\text{exc}}^3}{3} \Gamma\left(\frac{7}{4}\right) {}_0F_2\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{5}{4}; \left(\frac{kR_{\text{exc}}}{4}\right)^4\right) + \frac{k^2 R_{\text{exc}}^5}{24} \Gamma\left(\frac{5}{4}\right) {}_0F_2\left(\frac{3}{2}, \frac{7}{4}; \left(\frac{kR_{\text{exc}}}{4}\right)^4\right), \quad (B.10)$$

where ${}_{0}F_{2}$ is the generalized hypergeometric function. The full expression is then $F_{\text{exc}}(k) = \delta^{(D)}(k) - 2f(k, R_{\text{exc}}) + f(k, 2^{-\frac{1}{4}}R_{\text{exc}})$. It is helpful to consider this function from the perspective of modeling the nonperturbative exclusion effect in Fourier space (i.e. in the context of a Fourier space analysis), and in clearly disentangling the shape of the terms due to finite halo size and due to nonlinear clustering. This form of the model is potentially computationally inefficient, but is presented for conceptual completeness, and convolutions may be sped up via FFTLog-based algorithms (e.g. [114]).

B.2 Halo mass bins

The halo bins used here are provided in Table 2. We do not show bins 0 and 3 in the main text since these low mass halos are almost certainly very poorly-resolved. We also show the halo-matter and halo-halo correlation functions for wider bins that are the combination of the narrower two bins described in the main text (Fig. 18, Fig. 19). The width of the bins seems not to adversely affect the accuracy of the model.

B.3 Compensation *R* for halos

Fixing R for halo auto-correlation to some very large value $(10^{10}, \text{ essentially infinity for our purposes})$ has no real effect (fraction of 1%) on the quality of fit in the halo auto-correlation for

Bin	$[\log M_{\min}, \log M_{\max}]$
1	[12.5, 13.5]
2	[13.5, 14.5]
3	[11.5, 12.0]
4	[12.0, 12.5]
5	[12.5, 13.0]
6	[13.0, 13.5]
7	[13.5, 14.0]
8	[14.0, 14.5]

Table 2. Halo mass bins in M_{\odot}/h



Figure 18. Same as Fig. 7, but for the combined bins.

the $n_{\text{max}} = 1$ model with free shot noise. For halo-matter, the scale at which the compensation is relevant is different for different sized halos and increases with halo mass (we find this in the fitted values of R for halo-matter). Fixing R to any particular value that works well for a certain mass bin produces significantly worse fits on large scales for other mass bins - so the compensation is not something that can easily be fixed for the cross correlation. Disentangling compensation from nonlinear bias is also challenging since we expect both the physical compensation scale and nonlinear bias to change with halo mass.

C Impact of Halo Finder and Mass Definition on Halo Exclusion

The halo finder used has a significant impact on the scale and amplitude of the exclusion feature in the halo-halo correlation function. The halo mass definition also has a moderate



Figure 19. Same as Fig. 8, but for the combined bins.

effect on the scale and significant impact on the amplitude of the feature.

We saw in Section 6 that the exclusion feature presented itself at much smaller scales $(\approx 0.7 \text{ Mpc}/h)$ in the LZ correlation functions than in the CM correlation functions ($\approx 1.5 \text{ Mpc}/h$). To check if this effect is due to the choice of halo finder, we ran FoF on the Aemulus dark matter particle snapshots that were used to create the ROCKSTAR strict SO M200b halos provided in the Aemulus halo catalogs. Fig. 20 shows the correlation function for both FoF halos and ROCKSTAR strict SO (SSO) halos. It is clear that the correlation function function of FoF halos exhibits an exclusion feature at much larger scales that the one for SSO halos does. To check that this is not an effect unique to the Aemulus simulations, and to



Figure 20. Halo-halo correlation function for the default Aemulus ROCKSTAR "strict SO" (SSO) M200b halos (includes unbound particles) in green, and for FoF (linking length 0.2) halos in red.

provide a direct comparison of SO and SSO mass definitions using the same halo centers, we use the publicly available Abacus halo catalogs [20]. The halo catalogs used correspond to Planck cosmology with box size 1100 Mpc/h at z = 0.5, and details of the FoF and ROCKSTAR catalogs are provided in [20]. Fig. 21 shows the same as Fig. 20 for the Abacus halos, but with additional curves for SO virial halos as well as default ROCKSTAR virial halos. We consider only bin 7 here, but this effect persists for all halo mass bins considered in Table 2 (the only

real differences being the absolute scales and smoother curves for lower-mass halos due to increased number density at lower mass).

It appears that for strict SO halos, halo mass definition does not change the exclusion feature significantly. However, the use of default ROCKSTAR halo masses instead of SSO masses is already quite different in terms of the exclusion feature. The exclusion features for the ROCKSTAR halo masses lie in the middle of those of the SSO and FoF halos. The change in amplitude along with the change in scale is perhaps not that surprising, as it qualitatively seems to be what would be expected of applying the exclusion step to the continuous model for $\xi_{hh}(r)$ described in Section 5 at a smaller R_{exc} . Naively this would seem to mean that the SSO halos display clustering behavior indicative of a smaller exclusion scale (at fixed halo finder) than that exhibited by the ROCKSTAR halos (and the same goes for FoF halos). This may be related to the well-known scatter in the relation between FoF (b = 0.2) and M200b halos (e.g. [115],[116]). It would be interesting to connect this difference with a more intuitive description of exclusion, perhaps informed by peaks similar to [91]. Figs. 20 and 21 show



Figure 21. Halo-halo correlation function for the Abacus ROCKSTAR default halos (blue), "strict SO" (SSO) virial halos (orange), SSO M200b halos (green), and for FoF with linking length 0.186 halos (red).

features that are similar to Fig. A1 of [117] that compares different percolation strategies in a modified version of ROCKSTAR (but did not investigate $\xi_{hh}(r)$ in detail). It would be interesting to draw clearer connections between the differences in percolation strategies, the differences we observe here, and the effect on halo exclusion in two-point correlators.

References

- U. Seljak and Z. Vlah, Halo Zel'dovich model and perturbation theory: Dark matter power spectrum and correlation function, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 123516 [1501.07512].
- [2] S. Alam, M. Ata, S. Bailey, F. Beutler, D. Bizyaev, J. A. Blazek et al., The clustering of galaxies in the completed SDSS-III Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: cosmological analysis of the DR12 galaxy sample, MNRAS 470 (2017) 2617 [1607.03155].
- [3] T. M. C. Abbott, F. B. Abdalla, A. Alarcon, J. Aleksić, S. Allam, S. Allen et al., Dark Energy Survey year 1 results: Cosmological constraints from galaxy clustering and weak lensing, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 043526 [1708.01530].

- [4] F. Bernardeau, S. Colombi, E. Gaztañaga and R. Scoccimarro, Large-scale structure of the Universe and cosmological perturbation theory, Phys. Rep. 367 (2002) 1 [astro-ph/0112551].
- [5] V. Desjacques, D. Jeong and F. Schmidt, Large-scale galaxy bias, Phys. Rep. 733 (2018) 1 [1611.09787].
- [6] J. J. M. Carrasco, M. P. Hertzberg and L. Senatore, The effective field theory of cosmological large scale structures, Journal of High Energy Physics 2012 (2012) 82 [1206.2926].
- [7] D. Baumann, A. Nicolis, L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, Cosmological non-linearities as an effective fluid, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2012 (2012) 051 [1004.2488].
- [8] Z. Vlah, M. White and A. Aviles, A Lagrangian effective field theory, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2015 (2015) 014 [1506.05264].
- [9] R. A. Porto, L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, The Lagrangian-space Effective Field Theory of large scale structures, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2014 (2014) 022 [1311.2168].
- [10] Z. Vlah, U. Seljak, M. Yat Chu and Y. Feng, Perturbation theory, effective field theory, and oscillations in the power spectrum, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2016 (2016) 057 [1509.02120].
- [11] M. M. Ivanov, M. Simonović and M. Zaldarriaga, Cosmological parameters from the BOSS galaxy power spectrum, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2020 (2020) 042 [1909.05277].
- [12] M. McQuinn and M. White, Cosmological perturbation theory in 1+1 dimensions, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2016 (2016) 043 [1502.07389].
- [13] E. Pajer and D. van der Woude, Divergence of perturbation theory in large scale structures, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2018 (2018) 039 [1710.01736].
- [14] U. Seljak, Analytic model for galaxy and dark matter clustering, MNRAS 318 (2000) 203 [astro-ph/0001493].
- [15] J. A. Peacock and R. E. Smith, Halo occupation numbers and galaxy bias, MNRAS 318 (2000) 1144 [astro-ph/0005010].
- [16] A. Cooray and R. Sheth, Halo models of large scale structure, Phys. Rep. 372 (2002) 1 [astro-ph/0206508].
- [17] C.-P. Ma and J. N. Fry, Deriving the Nonlinear Cosmological Power Spectrum and Bispectrum from Analytic Dark Matter Halo Profiles and Mass Functions, ApJ 543 (2000) 503 [astro-ph/0003343].
- [18] B. D. Wibking, A. N. Salcedo, D. H. Weinberg, L. H. Garrison, D. Ferrer, J. Tinker et al., Emulating galaxy clustering and galaxy-galaxy lensing into the deeply non-linear regime: methodology, information, and forecasts, MNRAS 484 (2019) 989 [1709.07099].
- [19] F. Schmidt, Towards a self-consistent halo model for the nonlinear large-scale structure, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 063512 [1511.02231].
- [20] L. H. Garrison, D. J. Eisenstein, D. Ferrer, J. L. Tinker, P. A. Pinto and D. H. Weinberg, *The Abacus Cosmos: A Suite of Cosmological N-body Simulations*, ApJS **236** (2018) 43 [1712.05768].
- [21] D. Potter, J. Stadel and R. Teyssier, PKDGRAV3: beyond trillion particle cosmological simulations for the next era of galaxy surveys, Computational Astrophysics and Cosmology 4 (2017) 2 [1609.08621].
- [22] K. Heitmann, D. Higdon, M. White, S. Habib, B. J. Williams, E. Lawrence et al., The Coyote Universe. II. Cosmological Models and Precision Emulation of the Nonlinear Matter Power Spectrum, ApJ 705 (2009) 156 [0902.0429].

- [23] J. Tinker, A. V. Kravtsov, A. Klypin, K. Abazajian, M. Warren, G. Yepes et al., Toward a Halo Mass Function for Precision Cosmology: The Limits of Universality, ApJ 688 (2008) 709 [0803.2706].
- [24] J. DeRose, R. H. Wechsler, J. L. Tinker, M. R. Becker, Y.-Y. Mao, T. McClintock et al., The AEMULUS Project. I. Numerical Simulations for Precision Cosmology, ApJ 875 (2019) 69 [1804.05865].
- [25] A. Schneider, R. Teyssier, D. Potter, J. Stadel, J. Onions, D. S. Reed et al., Matter power spectrum and the challenge of percent accuracy, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2016 (2016) 047 [1503.05920].
- [26] Y. Feng, M.-Y. Chu, U. Seljak and P. McDonald, FASTPM: a new scheme for fast simulations of dark matter and haloes, MNRAS 463 (2016) 2273 [1603.00476].
- [27] S. Tassev, M. Zaldarriaga and D. J. Eisenstein, Solving large scale structure in ten easy steps with COLA, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2013 (2013) 036 [1301.0322].
- [28] M. White, J. L. Tinker and C. K. McBride, Mock galaxy catalogues using the quick particle mesh method, MNRAS 437 (2014) 2594 [1309.5532].
- [29] Z. Zhai, J. L. Tinker, M. R. Becker, J. DeRose, Y.-Y. Mao, T. McClintock et al., The Aemulus Project. III. Emulation of the Galaxy Correlation Function, ApJ 874 (2019) 95 [1804.05867].
- [30] E. Lawrence, K. Heitmann, J. Kwan, A. Upadhye, D. Bingham, S. Habib et al., The Mira-Titan Universe. II. Matter Power Spectrum Emulation, ApJ 847 (2017) 50 [1705.03388].
- [31] T. Nishimichi, M. Takada, R. Takahashi, K. Osato, M. Shirasaki, T. Oogi et al., Dark Quest. I. Fast and Accurate Emulation of Halo Clustering Statistics and Its Application to Galaxy Clustering, ApJ 884 (2019) 29 [1811.09504].
- [32] R. Takahashi, M. Sato, T. Nishimichi, A. Taruya and M. Oguri, *Revising the Halofit Model for the Nonlinear Matter Power Spectrum*, ApJ **761** (2012) 152 [1208.2701].
- [33] M. White, Baryons and weak lensing power spectra, Astroparticle Physics 22 (2004) 211 [astro-ph/0405593].
- [34] H. Zhan and L. Knox, Effect of Hot Baryons on the Weak-Lensing Shear Power Spectrum, ApJ 616 (2004) L75 [astro-ph/0409198].
- [35] N. E. Chisari, A. J. Mead, S. Joudaki, P. G. Ferreira, A. Schneider, J. Mohr et al., Modelling baryonic feedback for survey cosmology, The Open Journal of Astrophysics 2 (2019) 4 [1905.06082].
- [36] M. P. van Daalen, I. G. McCarthy and J. Schaye, Exploring the effects of galaxy formation on matter clustering through a library of simulation power spectra, MNRAS 491 (2020) 2424 [1906.00968].
- [37] A. J. Mead, J. A. Peacock, C. Heymans, S. Joudaki and A. F. Heavens, An accurate halo model for fitting non-linear cosmological power spectra and baryonic feedback models, MNRAS 454 (2015) 1958 [1505.07833].
- [38] A. Schneider and R. Teyssier, A new method to quantify the effects of baryons on the matter power spectrum, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2015 (2015) 049 [1510.06034].
- [39] A. Schneider, R. Teyssier, J. Stadel, N. E. Chisari, A. M. C. Le Brun, A. Amara et al., Quantifying baryon effects on the matter power spectrum and the weak lensing shear correlation, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2019 (2019) 020 [1810.08629].
- [40] Z. Vlah, U. Seljak and T. Baldauf, Lagrangian perturbation theory at one loop order: Successes, failures, and improvements, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 023508 [1410.1617].

- [41] S. Pandey, E. Krause, B. Jain, N. MacCrann, J. Blazek, M. Crocce et al., Perturbation theory for modeling galaxy bias: Validation with simulations of the Dark Energy Survey, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 123522 [2008.05991].
- [42] C. Modi, S.-F. Chen and M. White, Simulations and symmetries, MNRAS 492 (2020) 5754 [1910.07097].
- [43] A. Mead and L. Verde, Including beyond-linear halo bias in halo models, arXiv e-prints (2020) arXiv:2011.08858 [2011.08858].
- [44] A. A. Berlind and D. H. Weinberg, The Halo Occupation Distribution: Toward an Empirical Determination of the Relation between Galaxies and Mass, ApJ 575 (2002) 587 [astro-ph/0109001].
- [45] Z. Zhai, J. L. Tinker, C. Hahn, H.-J. Seo, M. R. Blanton, R. Tojeiro et al., The Clustering of Luminous Red Galaxies at z ~ 0.7 from EBOSS and BOSS Data, ApJ 848 (2017) 76 [1607.05383].
- [46] B. A. Reid, H.-J. Seo, A. Leauthaud, J. L. Tinker and M. White, A 2.5 per cent measurement of the growth rate from small-scale redshift space clustering of SDSS-III CMASS galaxies, MNRAS 444 (2014) 476 [1404.3742].
- [47] R. H. Wechsler and J. L. Tinker, The Connection Between Galaxies and Their Dark Matter Halos, ARA&A 56 (2018) 435 [1804.03097].
- [48] I. Mohammed and U. Seljak, Analytic model for the matter power spectrum, its covariance matrix and baryonic effects, MNRAS 445 (2014) 3382 [1407.0060].
- [49] P. Valageas and T. Nishimichi, Combining perturbation theories with halo models, A&A 527 (2011) A87 [1009.0597].
- [50] O. H. E. Philcox, D. N. Spergel and F. Villaescusa-Navarro, Effective halo model: Creating a physical and accurate model of the matter power spectrum and cluster counts, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 123520 [2004.09515].
- [51] P. Valageas, Accuracy of analytical models of the large-scale matter distribution, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 083524 [1308.6755].
- [52] Planck Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade, N. Aghanim, M. Arnaud, M. Ashdown, J. Aumont et al., Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters, A&A 594 (2016) A13 [1502.01589].
- [53] M. Davis, G. Efstathiou, C. S. Frenk and S. D. M. White, The evolution of large-scale structure in a universe dominated by cold dark matter, ApJ 292 (1985) 371.
- [54] N. Hand, Y. Feng, F. Beutler, Y. Li, C. Modi, U. Seljak et al., nbodykit: An Open-source, Massively Parallel Toolkit for Large-scale Structure, AJ 156 (2018) 160 [1712.05834].
- [55] Y. P. Jing, Correcting for the Alias Effect When Measuring the Power Spectrum Using a Fast Fourier Transform, ApJ 620 (2005) 559 [astro-ph/0409240].
- [56] M. Sinha and L. H. Garrison, CORRFUNC a suite of blazing fast correlation functions on the CPU, MNRAS 491 (2020) 3022 [1911.03545].
- [57] F. Villaescusa-Navarro, S. Naess, S. Genel, A. Pontzen, B. Wandelt, L. Anderson et al., Statistical Properties of Paired Fixed Fields, ApJ 867 (2018) 137 [1806.01871].
- [58] D. Blas, J. Lesgourgues and T. Tram, The Cosmic Linear Anisotropy Solving System (CLASS). Part II: Approximation schemes, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2011 (2011) 034 [1104.2933].
- [59] Z. Vlah, E. Castorina and M. White, The Gaussian streaming model and convolution Lagrangian effective field theory, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2016 (2016) 007 [1609.02908].

- [60] S.-F. Chen, Z. Vlah and M. White, Consistent Modeling of Velocity Statistics and Redshift-Space Distortions in One-Loop Perturbation Theory, arXiv e-prints (2020) arXiv:2005.00523 [2005.00523].
- [61] A. P. Hearin, D. Campbell, E. Tollerud, P. Behroozi, B. Diemer, N. J. Goldbaum et al., Forward Modeling of Large-scale Structure: An Open-source Approach with Halotools, AJ 154 (2017) 190 [1606.04106].
- [62] Z. Zheng, A. L. Coil and I. Zehavi, Galaxy Evolution from Halo Occupation Distribution Modeling of DEEP2 and SDSS Galaxy Clustering, ApJ 667 (2007) 760 [astro-ph/0703457].
- [63] B. Reid, S. Ho, N. Padmanabhan, W. J. Percival, J. Tinker, R. Tojeiro et al., SDSS-III Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey Data Release 12: galaxy target selection and large-scale structure catalogues, MNRAS 455 (2016) 1553 [1509.06529].
- [64] E. Sefusatti, M. Crocce, R. Scoccimarro and H. M. P. Couchman, Accurate estimators of correlation functions in Fourier space, MNRAS 460 (2016) 3624 [1512.07295].
- [65] T. McClintock, E. Rozo, M. R. Becker, J. DeRose, Y.-Y. Mao, S. McLaughlin et al., The Aemulus Project. II. Emulating the Halo Mass Function, ApJ 872 (2019) 53 [1804.05866].
- [66] N. Hand, U. Seljak, F. Beutler and Z. Vlah, Extending the modeling of the anisotropic galaxy power spectrum to $k = 0.4 h M p c^{-1}$, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. **2017** (2017) 009 [1706.02362].
- [67] J. F. Navarro, C. S. Frenk and S. D. M. White, The Structure of Cold Dark Matter Halos, ApJ 462 (1996) 563 [astro-ph/9508025].
- [68] A. A. Dutton and A. V. Macciò, Cold dark matter haloes in the Planck era: evolution of structural parameters for Einasto and NFW profiles, MNRAS 441 (2014) 3359 [1402.7073].
- [69] Y. B. Zel'Dovich, Reprint of 1970A&A....5...84Z. Gravitational instability: an approximate theory for large density perturbations., A&A 500 (1970) 13.
- [70] M. White, The Zel'dovich approximation, MNRAS 439 (2014) 3630 [1401.5466].
- [71] T. Matsubara, Resumming cosmological perturbations via the Lagrangian picture: One-loop results in real space and in redshift space, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 063530 [0711.2521].
- [72] S. Tassev, N-point statistics of large-scale structure in the Zel'dovich approximation, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2014 (2014) 012 [1311.6316].
- [73] P. J. E. Peebles, The large-scale structure of the universe. 1980.
- [74] A. Y. Chen and N. Afshordi, Amending the halo model to satisfy cosmological conservation laws, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 103522 [1912.04872].
- [75] N. E. Chisari, M. L. A. Richardson, J. Devriendt, Y. Dubois, A. Schneider, A. M. C. Le Brun et al., The impact of baryons on the matter power spectrum from the Horizon-AGN cosmological hydrodynamical simulation, MNRAS 480 (2018) 3962 [1801.08559].
- [76] S.-F. Chen, E. Castorina and M. White, Biased tracers of two fluids in the Lagrangian picture, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2019 (2019) 006 [1903.00437].
- [77] F. Schmidt, Effect of relative velocity and density perturbations between baryons and dark matter on the clustering of galaxies, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 063508 [1602.09059].
- [78] C. Rampf, C. Uhlemann and O. Hahn, Cosmological perturbations for two cold fluids in ΛCDM, MNRAS 503 (2021) 406 [2008.09123].
- [79] A. Barreira, G. Cabass, D. Nelson and F. Schmidt, Baryon-CDM isocurvature galaxy bias with IllustrisTNG, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2020 (2020) 005 [1907.04317].

- [80] M. A. Troxel, N. MacCrann, J. Zuntz, T. F. Eifler, E. Krause, S. Dodelson et al., Dark Energy Survey Year 1 results: Cosmological constraints from cosmic shear, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 043528 [1708.01538].
- [81] H.-J. Huang, T. Eifler, R. Mandelbaum and S. Dodelson, Modelling baryonic physics in future weak lensing surveys, MNRAS 488 (2019) 1652 [1809.01146].
- [82] A. J. Mead, S. Brieden, T. Tröster and C. Heymans, HMCODE-2020: improved modelling of non-linear cosmological power spectra with baryonic feedback, MNRAS 502 (2021) 1401 [2009.01858].
- [83] C. Modi, M. White and Z. Vlah, Modeling CMB lensing cross correlations with CLEFT, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2017 (2017) 009 [1706.03173].
- [84] J. Carlson, B. Reid and M. White, Convolution Lagrangian perturbation theory for biased tracers, MNRAS 429 (2013) 1674 [1209.0780].
- [85] S. Tassev and M. Zaldarriaga, Estimating CDM particle trajectories in the mildly non-linear regime of structure formation. Implications for the density field in real and redshift space, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2012 (2012) 011 [1203.5785].
- [86] T. Baldauf, U. Seljak, R. E. Smith, N. Hamaus and V. Desjacques, Halo stochasticity from exclusion and nonlinear clustering, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 083507 [1305.2917].
- [87] N. Hamaus, U. Seljak, V. Desjacques, R. E. Smith and T. Baldauf, *Minimizing the stochasticity of halos in large-scale structure surveys*, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 043515 [1004.5377].
- [88] M. Schmittfull, M. Simonović, V. Assassi and M. Zaldarriaga, Modeling biased tracers at the field level, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 043514 [1811.10640].
- [89] R. E. Smith, R. Scoccimarro and R. K. Sheth, Scale dependence of halo and galaxy bias: Effects in real space, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 063512 [astro-ph/0609547].
- [90] T. Baldauf, S. Codis, V. Desjacques and C. Pichon, Peak exclusion, stochasticity and convergence of perturbative bias expansions in 1+1 gravity, MNRAS 456 (2016) 3985 [1510.09204].
- [91] T. Baldauf, S. Codis, V. Desjacques and C. Pichon, Non-perturbative halo clustering from cosmological density peaks, arXiv e-prints (2020) arXiv:2012.14404 [2012.14404].
- [92] F. C. van den Bosch, S. More, M. Cacciato, H. Mo and X. Yang, Cosmological constraints from a combination of galaxy clustering and lensing - I. Theoretical framework, MNRAS 430 (2013) 725 [1206.6890].
- [93] Z. Vlah, U. Seljak, T. Okumura and V. Desjacques, Distribution function approach to redshift space distortions. Part V: perturbation theory applied to dark matter halos, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2013 (2013) 053 [1308.6294].
- [94] T. Okumura, N. Hand, U. Seljak, Z. Vlah and V. Desjacques, Galaxy power spectrum in redshift space: Combining perturbation theory with the halo model, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 103516 [1506.05814].
- [95] M. White, The Mass Function, ApJS 143 (2002) 241 [astro-ph/0207185].
- [96] R. Mandelbaum, U. Seljak, G. Kauffmann, C. M. Hirata and J. Brinkmann, Galaxy halo masses and satellite fractions from galaxy-galaxy lensing in the Sloan Digital Sky Survey: stellar mass, luminosity, morphology and environment dependencies, MNRAS 368 (2006) 715 [astro-ph/0511164].
- [97] B. D. Wibking, D. H. Weinberg, A. N. Salcedo, H.-Y. Wu, S. Singh, S. Rodríguez-Torres et al., Cosmology with galaxy-galaxy lensing on non-perturbative scales: emulation method and application to BOSS LOWZ, MNRAS 492 (2020) 2872 [1907.06293].

- [98] J. K. Parejko, T. Sunayama, N. Padmanabhan, D. A. Wake, A. A. Berlind, D. Bizyaev et al., The clustering of galaxies in the SDSS-III Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: the low-redshift sample, MNRAS 429 (2013) 98 [1211.3976].
- [99] B. Dai and U. Seljak, Sliced Iterative Generator, arXiv e-prints (2020) arXiv:2007.00674 [2007.00674].
- [100] J. Kwan, K. Heitmann, S. Habib, N. Padmanabhan, E. Lawrence, H. Finkel et al., Cosmic Emulation: Fast Predictions for the Galaxy Power Spectrum, ApJ 810 (2015) 35 [1311.6444].
- [101] N. Kokron, J. DeRose, S.-F. Chen, M. White and R. H. Wechsler, The cosmology dependence of galaxy clustering and lensing from a hybrid N-body-perturbation theory model, arXiv e-prints (2021) arXiv:2101.11014 [2101.11014].
- [102] H. Miyatake, Y. Kobayashi, M. Takada, T. Nishimichi, M. Shirasaki, S. Sugiyama et al., Cosmological inference from emulator based halo model I: Validation tests with HSC and SDSS mock catalogs, arXiv e-prints (2020) arXiv:2101.00113 [2101.00113].
- [103] K. K. Rogers, H. V. Peiris, A. Pontzen, S. Bird, L. Verde and A. Font-Ribera, Bayesian emulator optimisation for cosmology: application to the Lyman-alpha forest, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2019 (2019) 031 [1812.04631].
- [104] Y. Kobayashi, T. Nishimichi, M. Takada, R. Takahashi and K. Osato, Accurate emulator for the redshift-space power spectrum of dark matter halos and its application to galaxy power spectrum, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 063504 [2005.06122].
- [105] D. Valcin, F. Villaescusa-Navarro, L. Verde and A. Raccanelli, *BE-HaPPY: bias emulator for halo power spectrum including massive neutrinos*, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. **2019** (2019) 057 [1901.06045].
- [106] Y. Zu, On the "Lensing is Low" of BOSS Galaxies, arXiv e-prints (2020) arXiv:2010.01143 [2010.01143].
- [107] S. van der Walt, S. C. Colbert and G. Varoquaux, The NumPy Array: A Structure for Efficient Numerical Computation, Computing in Science and Engineering 13 (2011) 22 [1102.1523].
- [108] P. Virtanen, R. Gommers, T. E. Oliphant, M. Haberland, T. Reddy, D. Cournapeau et al., SciPy 1.0: fundamental algorithms for scientific computing in Python, Nature Methods 17 (2020) 261 [1907.10121].
- [109] Astropy Collaboration, A. M. Price-Whelan, B. M. Sipőcz, H. M. Günther, P. L. Lim, S. M. Crawford et al., *The Astropy Project: Building an Open-science Project and Status of the v2.0 Core Package*, AJ 156 (2018) 123 [1801.02634].
- [110] M. Frigo and S. G. Johnson, FFTW: Fastest Fourier Transform in the West, Jan., 2012.
- [111] A. Lewis, A. Challinor and A. Lasenby, Efficient Computation of Cosmic Microwave Background Anisotropies in Closed Friedmann-Robertson-Walker Models, ApJ 538 (2000) 473 [astro-ph/9911177].
- [112] Y. Li, mcfit: Multiplicatively Convolutional Fast Integral Transforms, June, 2019.
- [113] A. Schneider, N. Stoira, A. Refregier, A. J. Weiss, M. Knabenhans, J. Stadel et al., Baryonic effects for weak lensing. Part I. Power spectrum and covariance matrix, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2020 (2020) 019 [1910.11357].
- [114] J. E. McEwen, X. Fang, C. M. Hirata and J. A. Blazek, FAST-PT: a novel algorithm to calculate convolution integrals in cosmological perturbation theory, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2016 (2016) 015 [1603.04826].
- [115] M. White, The mass of a halo, A&A 367 (2001) 27 [astro-ph/0011495].

- [116] Z. Lukić, D. Reed, S. Habib and K. Heitmann, The Structure of Halos: Implications for Group and Cluster Cosmology, ApJ 692 (2009) 217 [0803.3624].
- [117] R. García and E. Rozo, Halo exclusion criteria impacts halo statistics, MNRAS 489 (2019) 4170 [1903.01709].